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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Cost of revenues (including amortization and impaints of
feature film and television production assets q2$& and
$12,039, respectively, and $22,644 and $19,48berwely) 78,41" 70,947 284,88 242 ,66¢

Depreciation and amortization 7,73( 6,50: 20,64¢ 17,81¢

Loss on equity investment (3,967) — (3,967) —

Interest expense (54¢€) (43¢) (1,53¢) (1,270

(Loss) income before income taxes (20,529 3,341 (45,799 16,52«

Net (loss) income $ (5,92) $ 2,43¢ % (28,45) $ 10,65¢

(Loss) Earnings per share:

Basic 75,40: 75,03( 75,23: 74,88¢

Dividends declared per common share (Class Aand B)  $ 01z % 01z % 03¢ $ 0.3¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,  September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Gains/(losses) on unrealized holding gains ailae-for-
sale securities (net of tax (benefit)/expense 6#j%&nd $49,
respectively, ($1) and ($225), respectively) (10%) 79 2 (367)

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

As of

September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

CURRENT ASSETS:

Short-term investments, net 39,13¢ 76,47¢

of $7,325 and $9,344 respectively) 56,66¢ 59,55:

Deferred income tax assets 16,91: 12,237

Total current assets 158,85 200,19

FEATURE FILM PRODUCTION ASSETS, NET 27,88¢ 16,01¢

INVESTMENT SECURITIES 7,20( 8,29¢

OTHER ASSETS, NET 20,63: 9,69¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

©

Current portion of long-term debt 4,321 % 4,25]

Deferred income 31,38¢ 30,11:

LONG-TERM DEBT 22,67( 25,38¢

NON-CURRENT DEFERRED INCOME 6,37t —

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

33,173,259 and 31,302,790 shares issued and oditsgjeas of

Class B convertible common stock: ($.01 par vafiged00,000 shares authorized;

September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respltiv 427 43¢

Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,46¢ 3,517

Total stockholders’ equity 215,66: 265,94¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other
Class A Class B Paid - in Comprehensive  Accumulated

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Income Deficit Total

Net loss — — (28,45 (28,45

Stock issuances, net 37C 4 — — (1,117 — (1,119

Tax effect from stock-based payment
arrangements

Stock-based compensation — — — 6,497 — — 6,497

See accompanying notes to consolidated financédstents.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2014 2013

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to @eshcused in operating activities:

Amortization of television production assets 19,43t 4,02¢

Loss on equity investment 3,96: —

Amortization of debt issuance costs 471 1,55¢

Recovery from doubtful accounts (409) (356)

Loss on disposal of property and equipment 14¢ 33t

Other non-cash items (34¢) (149)

Accounts receivable 3,00z (17,919

Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,40¢ (649

Television production assets (14,869 (8,687

Deferred income 7,652 1,70¢

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of corporate aircraft and related impr@rem — (29,730)

Net proceeds from infrastructure improvement inigest 2,935 —

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 38,83: 30,54:

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment — 38

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Repayment of long-term debt (3,009 (34¢)

Debt issuance costs (75¢) (679

Excess tax benefits from stock-based payment aeraagts 48~ 261

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,319 (28,967

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 29,59¢ § 37,08:




Non-cash purchase of property and equipment $ 72C % 1,611

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation and Business Description

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieictade the accounts of WWE. “WWHE&fers to World Wrestling Entertainment, |
and its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwgspiires. References to “we,” “us,” “our” and th€dmpany” refer to WWE and i
subsidiaries. We are an integrated media and airtarént company, principally engaged in the pradacand distribution of content throu
various channels including our digital over-the-(dpTT") WWE Network, television rights agreemerpsy-perview event programming, Ii1
events, feature films, licensing of various WWEnieel products and the sale of consumer productarfegtour brands. Our operations
organized around the following four principal adtas:

Media Division:
Network

* Revenues consist principally of subscriptionsWWE Network and fees for viewing our pay-per-viemd video-ordeman
programming.

Television
» Revenues consist principally of television rigfees and television advertising fees.
Home Entertainment
» Revenues consist principally of sales of WWE picetl content via home entertainment platforms.
Digital Media
* Revenues consist principally of advertising sale®ar websites, rights fees received for digitaiteat, sales of various broadband

mobile content and magazine publishing.

Live Events
« Revenues consist principally of ticket sales tadel packages for live events.

Consumer Products Division:

Licensing
* Revenues consist principally of royalties or licerises related to various WWE themed products suchideo games, toys ¢
apparel.
Venue Merchandise
* Revenues consist of sales of merchandise aivaevents.
WWEShop
* Revenues consist of sales of merchandise on ebsite through our WWEShop internet storefront.

WWE Studios
e Revenues consist of amounts earned from the timesd in, the production and/or distribution ofiféd entertainment.

In our prior reports filed with the Securities Eaclge Commission ("SEC") through fiscal year 2018, pvesented five reporta
segments: Live and Televised Entertainment, Consraducts, Digital Media, WWE Studios and UnalkechCorporate and Other. Effect
January 1, 2014, we now present ten reportable aeigminformation presented for the three and mmomths ended®eptember 30, 20
included in the unaudited consolidated financiatesnents herein and elsewhere in this QuarterlyoRdmas been recast to reflect our
segment presentation. See NoteSggment Informatiorfor further details on our reportable segments.hSewisions have no impact on
consolidated financial condition, results of opienat or cash flows for the periods presented.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Within the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flowmfoperating activities, certain prior year amowaése reclassified to conform to
current period presentation.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemamsinaudited. All adjustments (consisting of ndmaeaurring adjustments) conside
necessary for a fair presentation of financial s results of operations and cash flows at thesland for the periods presented have
included. The results of operations of any inteperiod are not necessarily indicative of the resolt operations for the full year. ,
intercompany balances are eliminated in consobdati

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requ
our management to make estimates and assumptianaftéct the reported amounts of assets anditiabiland disclosures of contingent as
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagens and the reported amounts of revenue and expelusing the reporting period. Actual res
could differ from those estimates.

Certain information and note disclosures normatigluded in annual financial statements have beewatsed or omitted from the
interim financial statements; these financial steets should be read in conjunction with the finalngtatements and notes thereto include
our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

I n May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards BA3FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update Nail4209,“ Revenue frol
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)This ASU will supersede the revenue recognitiequirements in ASC 605, “Revenue Recognitjon
and most industrgpecific guidance. The ASU requires an entity togmize revenue in an amount that reflects theiderstion to which th
entity expects to receive in exchange for goodseovices. This guidance is effective for annuabrépg periods beginning after December
2016 and early adoption is not permitted. This ddad update is effective for our fiscal year be@ignof January 1, 2017. We are curre
evaluating the impact of the adoption of this néandard on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standatdjsdate No. 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205y
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): RepatDiscontinued Operations and Disclosures of Dést® of Components of an Entil.
This ASU updated the accounting guidance relatetigoontinued operations. The updated accountindggee provides a narrower definit
of discontinued operations than existing GAAP. Tipelated accounting guidance requires that onlyodesis of components of an entity
groups of components, that represent a stratedictisiit has or will have a material effect on tegorting entitys operations be reported in
financial statements as discontinued operationse Tpdated accounting guidance also provides guédamt the financial statemi
presentations and disclosures of discontinued @ipasa On July 1, 2014, we early adopted this anting standard update which did not h
a material effect on our consolidated financialesteents.

2. Segment Information

During the first quarter of 2014, the Company l&wett WWE Network, which changed the way that certaintent is delivered to ¢
customers. The launch of WWE Network coupled wité tontinued convergence within the media landsdage resulted in a change in
Company’s management reporting to its chief opegatiecision maker. These changes necessitated rgechia the Compang’ segmet
reporting to align with management’'s operationawwi As discussed in Note ,J1the Company currently classifies its operation® itar
reportable segments. The ten reportable segmentiseoCompany now include the following: Network (et includes our pay-perew
business), Television, Home Entertainment and Bligitedia, individual segments that comprise the Mddivision; Live Events; Licensin
Venue Merchandise, WWEShop, individual segments abeprise the Consumer Products Division; WWE Bsidind Corporate and Otl
(as defined below).

We do not disclose assets by segment informatiogeheral, assets of the Company are leveragedsaitsaeportable segments and w
not provide assets by segment information to oigfaperating decision maker, as that informat®nat typically used in the determinatior
resource allocation and assessing business pericmtd each reportable segment.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

The Company presents OIBDA as the primary meastismegment profit (loss). The Company believes thesgntation of OIBDA |
relevant and useful for investors because it allmwestors to view our segment performance in #mesmanner as the primary method use
management to evaluate segment performance and dwdigions about allocating resources. The Compmhafjnes OIBDA as operatil
income before depreciation and amortization, exofeature film and television production assebsaimation and impairments.

We do not allocate certain costs included in OIBBffour Corporate and Other segment to the othesrtable segments. Corporate
Other expense primarily includes corporate overlaaticertain expenses related to sales and magketsiuding our international offices, ¢
talent development functions, including costs aiséed with our WWE Performance Center. These dostefit the Company as a whole
are therefore not allocated. Revenues from traimgecbetween our operating segments are not miateria

The following tables present summarized finangiébimation for each of the Company's reportablersags:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Network $ 26,11¢ $ 15,55 § 87,78t $ 69,71¢

Home Entertainment 3,62¢ 5,13¢ 19,48¢ 19,197

Live Events 21,74 25,13¢ 83,74: 87,71¢

Venue Merchandise 4,16: 4,02¢ 15,66: 16,02«

WWE Studios 1,92¢ 1,812 8,00¢ 5,83t

Total net revenues $ 120,18: $ 113,29: $ 402,06 $ 389,57"

Network $ 2,317 % 7,37¢ 3 (8,619 $ 20,59¢

Home Entertainment 1,277 1,94: 10,42 8,22¢

Live Events 3,85( 5,69( 23,14¢ 27,23:

Venue Merchandise 1,63: 1,65: 6,32¢ 6,18¢

WWE Studios (421) (7,419 94¢ (12,789

Total OIBDA $ 2,691 $ 9,70t $ (19,099 ¢ 35,93!
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Reconciliation of Total Operating (Loss) Income fimtal OIBDA

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013
Total operating (loss) income $ (5,039 $ 3,202 $ (39,74) $ 18,11:
Depreciation and amortization 7,73( 6,50: 20,64¢ 17,81¢
Total OIBDA $ 2,691 $ 9,70t $ (19,099 $ 35,93:

Geographic Information

Net revenues by major geographic region are baged the geographic location of where our contedisgibuted. The information belc
summarizes net revenues to unaffiliated customegebgraphic area:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

North America $ 93,86¢ $ 87,34. % 318,84: $ 304,19
Europe/Middle East/Africa 11,64¢ 11,24¢ 47,84( 51,40¢
Asia Pacific 13,70 13,73: 30,99: 29,58(
Latin America 967 96& 4,392 4,39¢
Total net revenues $ 120,18: $ 113,29: $ 402,06! $ 389,57!

Revenues generated from the United Kingdom, ogekrinternational market, totaled $7,699 and $¥/{6r the three and nine mon
ended September 30, 2014 , respectively, and $52240$24,777 for the corresponding periods in 2008 Companys property an
equipment was almost entirely located in the Un@¢ates at September 30, 2014 and 2013 .

3. Stock-based Compensation
Restricted Stock Uni

The Company grants restricted stock units ("RSs'9fficers and employees under the 2007 AmendedRastated Omnibus Incent
Plan (the "2007 Plan"). Stock-based compensatists@ssociated with our RSUs are determined ubmdair market value of the Company’
common stock on the date of the grant. These @rstsecognized over the requisite service periodguthe graded vesting method, ne
estimated forfeitures. RSUs have a service requngrtypically over a thregear to three and one half year vesting scheduke.edétimat
forfeitures based on historical trends when recziggi compensation expense and adjust the estinfidtafeitures when they are expectet
differ. Unvested RSUs accrue dividend equivalerittha same rate as are paid on our shares of @lassmmon stock. The divide
equivalents are subject to the same vesting scheduthe underlying RSUs.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

The following table summarizes the RSU activityidgrthe nine months ended September 30, 2014 :

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Units Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2014 107,03: $ 9.87
Granted 106,29t $ 23.2¢
Vested (71,300 $ 11.1¢
Forfeited (25,18) $ 13.0¢
Dividend equivalents 3,48: $ 18.6¢
Unvested at September 30, 2014 120,32t g 20.5¢

Performance Stock Uni

Stockbased compensation costs associated with our peafare stock units ("PSUs") are initially determinesthg the fair market value
the Companys common stock on the date the awards are appioyedir Compensation Committee (service inceptioie)dand are grant
under the 2007 Plan. The vesting of these PSUsudject to certain performance conditions and eigerequirement of approximately th
and one half years. Until such time as the perfoceaonditions are met, stock compensation costcaged with these PSUs aremmeasure
each reporting period based upon the fair markietevaf the Company's common stock and the prolgluifiattainment on the reporting d:
The ultimate number of PSUs that are issued to raplayee is the result of the actual performancehef Company at the end of
performance period compared to the performanceitionsl. Stock compensation costs for our PSUs egegnized over the requisite sen
period using the graded vesting method, net ofmedéd forfeitures. Unvested PSUs accrue dividendvatents once the performai
conditions are met at the same rate as are paitiioshares of Class A common stock. The dividendvedents are subject to the same ve:
schedule as the underlying PSUs.

The following table summarizes the PSU activityidgrthe nine months ended September 30, 2014 :

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Units Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2014 1,259,620 $ 13.4¢
Granted 278,28. % 13.77
Achievement adjustment (387,63) $ 23.9¢
Vested (371,19) $ 13.71
Forfeited (39,829 % 18.3:
Dividend equivalents 16,56¢ $ 15.57
Unvested at September 30, 2014 755,82] g 15.4¢

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we gra8@dB96PSUs which were subject to performance conditibusing the three mont
ended March 31, 2014, certain performance conditretated to these PSUs were partially met whishlted in a reduction of 387,6 F5U:
in 2014 relating to the initial 2013 PSU grant.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, watgd 278,281 PSUs which are subject to certafioypeance conditions.

Stock-based compensation costs totaled $1,597 #8f fr the three months ended September 30, 20d2@13 , respectively, argb,49"
and $3,543 for the nine months ended Septembe2(30, and 2013 , respectively.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)

(Unaudited)
4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
As of
September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

Land, buildings and improvements $ 106,02: $ 106,74¢
Equipment 109,39« 107,30!
Corporate aircrafts 31,27, 51,75
Vehicles 244 244

246,93t 266,05!
Less accumulated depreciation (130,55) (132,57)
Total $ 116,380 $ 133,48(

Depreciation expense for property and equipmeiaiedt$7,314 and $19,420 for the three months anel months ende8eptember 3
2014 , respectively, as compared to $6,111 and6$B6or the corresponding periods in the prior yearriByi the first quarter of 2014, t
Company received tax credits relating to our irtftature improvements in conjunction with capitabjpcts to support our increased cor
production efforts. Depreciation expense for theeninonths ended September 30, 2014 reflects aibeh&fl,388from the recognition of tt
infrastructure tax credit noted above. The crediswsed to reduce the carrying value of the assetd their inservice date and conseque
the adjustment to depreciation expense reflectsahised amount incurred to date. The credit wasived in the current year, but relate
assets placed in service in prior years. Additignah conjunction with the anticipated sale of ald corporate aircraft, which sale did oc
during the third quarter of 2014, depreciation egeefor the nine months ended September 30, 2@l4dies an adjustment of $1,6&0reduc
the carrying value of the asset to its estimaté@dvi@lue. Depreciation expense for the third quaofe2014 includes an impairment charg
$1,757 related to a change in business strategteteto our gamification platform. See Note Réstructuring Chargefor further details.

5. Feature Film Production Assets, Net

Feature film production assets consisted of theviehg:

As of
September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

Feature film productions:
In release $ 11,740  $ 9,41:
Completed but not released 5,11¢ 3,13(
In production 10,49( 2,68¢
In development 53¢ 78¢
Total $ 27,88: % 16,01¢

Approximately 55% of “In release” film productiossets are estimated to be amortized over the Rextdhths and approximately 7986
“In release” film production assets are estimatebd amortized over the next three years. We aatieiamortizing 80%f our "In release" filr
production asset within four years as we receivemaes associated with international distributibowr licensed films.

During the nine months ended September 30, 20X treleased one feature film via theatrical distidoy Oculus, and two films direct 1
DVD, Scooby Doo at WrestleManiand Leprechaun: Origins, which comprise $4,98@f our "In release" feature film assets a:
September 30, 2014 . During 201the Company entered into an agreement to co-disérithe feature filnRoad to Paloma This film wa
released via a limited theatrical release and o®nVJuly 2014. The Company intends to recognize
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

revenue generated by this film in a manner sintdanow it recognizes revenue for its licensed filims2014, the Company did not record
revenue associated with this release. Third-pastyildutors control the distribution and marketiofco-distributed films, and as a result,
recognize revenue on a net basis after the fhartly distributor recoups distribution fees andenges and results are reported to us. Resu
typically reported to us in periods subsequenhwinitial release of the film. During the nine ntftom ended September 30, 2Q18e release
three feature films via theatrical distributiodp One Lives The Calland Dead Man Dowrand two films,12 Rounds 2: Reloadezhd The
Marine 3: Homefrondirect to DVD, which aggregate $3,625 of our "lfeese" feature film assets as of September 30, 2014

Unamortized feature film production assets arewatald for impairment each reporting period. Weeevand revise estimates of ultim
revenue and participation costs at each reporteripg to reflect the most current information azble. If estimates for a films’ ultimate
revenue are revised and indicate a significantinkeéh a film’s profitability or if events or circumstances charnligat indicate we should ass
whether the fair value of a film is less than itemortized film costs, we calculate the film's mstied fair value using a discounted cash f
model. If fair value is less than unamortized ctst,film asset is written down to fair value.

We did not record any impairment charges duringthinee and nine months ended September 30, &04atd to our feature films. Duri
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2@&3recorded impairment charges of $6,965 and6611, respectively related to ¢
feature films. These impairment charges represenéxcess of the recorded net carrying value dveestimated fair value.

We currently have five films designated as "Congaebut not released" and have six films "In product We also have capitaliz
certain script development costs for various otfilen projects designated as “In developmen®apitalized script development costs
evaluated at each reporting period for impairmerd & determine if a project is deemed to be abaedoDuring the nine months en
September 30, 2014 , we expensed $838ted to previously capitalized development cadt@bandoned projects. We did not incur
comparable expenses for the three months endedr8eet 30, 2014 or in the prior year periods.

6. Television Production Assets, Net

Television production assets consisted of the fahg:

As of
September 30, December 31,
2014 2013
Television productions:
In release $ 593: $ 1,36¢
In production 278 9,407
Total $ 6,20t % 10,77

Television production assets consist primarily pisedic content series we have produced for digiob through a variety of platforr
including on WWE Network. Amounts capitalized priihainclude development costs, production costedpction overhead and emplo
salaries. We have $6,205 and $10,772 capitalizedf &eptember 30, 2014 and December 31, 20despectively, related to this type
programming. Costs to produce our live event pnogning are expensed when the event is first broadé€msts to produce episo
programming for television or distribution on WWEetork are amortized in the proportion that reveniear to management's estimate
the ultimate revenue expected to be recognized fgploitation, exhibition or sale. During the thraed nine months ende&tkeptember 3
2014 , we amortized $5,121 and $19,435 of telemipimduction assets, of which $1,621 and $9\668: related to Network programming .
$3,500 and $9,767 were related to Television prognang, respectively. During the three and nine rherended September 30, 201®€
amortized $4,026 related to Television programming.
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WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Unamortized television production assets are ewadlitor impairment each reporting period. If corutis indicate a potential impairme
and the estimated future cash flows are not sefficio recover the unamortized asset, the asseitten down to fair value. In addition, if \
determine that a program will not likely air, wellwirite-off the remaining unamortized asset. During theeehand nine months enc
September 30, 2014 and 2013, we did not recordrapgirments related to our television productiseeds.

7. Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments

Investment Securitie

WWE maintains several cost method investments. @mncM 14, 2014, the Company invested $2,00@eries E Preferred Stock ¢
software application developer. On June 25, 2088, Gompany invested $5,000 Series B Preferred Stock in a mobile video mititic
business, ("Investment"), and entered into a twargérategic partnership during which time WWE reee $1,758n common stock. In July
2014 this Investment initiated a convertible nabarfcing arrangement, the (“*July financing¥hich resulted in a change in WWE's owner
of common shares, preferred stock and convertibtesn We evaluate our cost method investmentsnfpairment if factors indicate tha
significant decrease in value has occurred. Asaltref the July financing we performed an analysiseassess the fair value of this Investr
due to the change in the capital structure andrdecban impairment charge of $3,9%62 the excess of the carrying value over the et
fair value of $3,000 . The Company did not recomgt anpairment charge on these assets during the mionths ended September 30, 2013
Investment Securities in our Consolidated Balanuee® as of September 30, 2014 and December 33,d2(H7,200 and $8,299%espectively
are amounts related to these investments.

Short-Term Investments:

Short-term investments measured at fair value stetsiof the following:

September 30, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Municipal bonds $ 19577 % 64 $ — $ 1964. $ 4463t $ 17¢ % 91) $ 44,72
Corporate bonds 19,51 39 (53 19,49¢ 31,82¢ 104 (179 31,75¢
Total $ 39,08 $ 102 % (53) $ 39,13¢ $ 76,46 $ 28C $ (265) $ 76,47¢

We classify the investments listed in the abovédetas available-fosale securities. Such investments consist primafilgorporate ar
municipal bonds, including pnefunded municipal bonds. These investments atedstt fair value as required by the applicableoanting
guidance. Unrealized gains and losses on suchisesuare reflected, net of tax, as other comprsivenincome (loss) in the Consolida
Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Our municipal and corporate bonds are includedhinr&erm investments, net on our Consolidated Balareees. Realized gains ¢
losses on investments are included in earningsaenderived using the specific identification metiior determining the cost of securities s
As of September 30, 2014 , contractual maturitfeb@se bonds are as follows:

Maturities
Municipal bonds 1 month4 years
Corporate bonds 4 months3 year:
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The following table summarizes the short-term itwesnt activity:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, September 30, September 30,
2014 2013 2014 2013

Proceeds from sale of short-term investments $ 14,79: $ —  $ 2257: $ 2,797
Proceeds from maturities and calls of short-term
investments $ 7,228 % 7,48 $ 16,26( $ 27,75(
Gross realized (loss) gains on sale of short-term
investments $ (40) $ — % (37 $ 1

8. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is determined based on the exchange prat would be received to sell an asset or patcansfer a liability in the principal
most advantageous market for the asset or lialilign orderly transaction between market partitipat the measurement date. Fair value
marketbased measurement based on assumptions that "rparkietpants” would use to price the asset oilligbAccordingly, the framewor
considers markets or observable inputs as the rpeefesource of value followed by assumptions bamedypothetical transactions, in
absence of market inputs. The fair value shoulddleulated based on assumptions that market paatits would use in pricing the asse
liability, not on assumptions specific to the entitn addition, the fair value of assets and ligiles should include consideration of non
performance risk including the Company's own cradk.

Additionally, the accounting guidance establishethr@elevel hierarchy that ranks the quality and religpibf information used i
developing fair value estimates. The hierarchy gitiee highest priority to quoted prices in activarkets and the lowest priority
unobservable data. In cases where two or morededfeinputs are used to determine fair value, arfaial instrument's level is determil
based on the lowest level input that is considesigdificant to the fair value measurement in itsirety. The three levels of the fair va
hierarchy are summarized as follows:

Level 1- quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities;

Level 2- quoted prices in active markets for similar asaets liabilities and inputs that are observable
the asset or liability; or

Level 3- unobservable inputs, such as discounted cash flodefs or valuations

The following assets are required to be measuréaratalue on a recurring basis and the clasgificawithin the hierarchy was as follow

Fair Value at September 30, 2014 Fair Value at December 31, 2013
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Municipal bonds $ 19.64: $ — $ 19,64. % — $ 4472: % — $ 4472 % —
Corporate bonds 19,49¢ — 19,49¢ — 31,75¢ — 31,75¢ —
Total $ 39,13¢ % — $ 39,13¢ % — $ 7647¢ $ — $ 7647¢ $ =

Certain financial instruments are carried at costhe Consolidated Balance Sheets, which approgsniair value due to their shdgrm
highly liquid nature. The carrying amounts of casid cash equivalents, money market accounts, atcoeceivable and accounts pay:
approximate fair value because of the short-tertaraaf such instruments.

We have classified our investment in municipal aodporate bonds within Level 2 as their valuatiequires quoted prices for simi
instruments in active markets, quoted prices fenigtal or similar instruments in markets that ao¢ active and/or modddased valuatic
techniques for which all significant inputs are etvable in the market or can be corroborated byfable market data. The municipal
corporate bonds are valued based on model-drivieratians. A third party service provider
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assists the Company with compiling market pricesnfra variety of industry standard data sourceqjrggamaster files from large financ
institutions and other third-party sources thatused to value our municipal and corporate bondstments.

The fair value measurements of our investment #&zsrwhich are recorded under the cost methoe,ctassified within Level 3 .
significant unobservable inputs are used to falueahese assets due to the absence of quoted ihpaides and inherent lack of liquidi
Significant unobservable inputs include variableshsas nearerm prospects of the investees, recent financutigiges of the investees, a
the investeestapital structure as well as other economic vagsblvhich reflect assumptions market participantsild use in pricing the
assets. Our investments are recorded at fair valye if an impairment charge is recognized. Durthg nine months endeSeptember 3
2014 , the Company recorded an impairment chargk8@62on the Investment for the excess of the carryingesaver the estimated f
value of $3,000 . The Company did not record anyaimment charge on these assets during the nin¢hmiended September 30, 2013 .

The Company's long lived property and equipmeittuie film and television production assets araired to be measured at fair value
a nonrecurring basis if it is determined that indicatofdmpairment exist. These assets are recordéairatalue only when an impairmen
recognized. During the nine months ended SepteBthe2014 , the Company recorded an adjustment 60810 reduce the carrying value
our old corporate aircraft to its estimated failueaand recorded an impairment charge of $1réted to a change in business strategy re
to our gamification platform. During the nine mosittnded September 30, 2013 , the Company recordedpairment charge of $11,6@h ¢
feature film production asset based on a fair valeasurement of $2,363 . See Not&&ature Film Production Assetdor further discussio
The Company classifies these assets as Level 3nwitth fair value hierarchy due to significant usetvable inputs. The Company utilize
discounted cash flows model to determine the falue of impaired films where indicators of impaimhexist. The significant unobserva
inputs to this model are the Compasgxpected cash flows for the film, including podgel home video sales, pay and free TV sale:
international sales, and a discount rate of 1B&bt we estimate market participants would seelb&aring the risk associated with such as
The Company utilizes an independent third partyatibn specialist who assists us in gathering #eessary inputs used in our model.

The fair value of the Company’s loigrm debt, consisting of a promissory note payahl®&BS Asset Finance, Inc. is estimated b
upon quoted price estimates for similar debt areaments. At September 30, 2014 , the face amouheafote approximates its fair value.
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9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consistbd @fllowing:

As of
September 30, December 31,
2014 2013

Trade related $ 9,56: $ 8,56~
Staff related 9,23¢ 5,58(
Management incentive compensation 9,97¢ 5,711
Talent related 6,22¢ 6,30¢
Accrued WWE Network related expenses 13,11¢ 2,471
Accrued event and television production 4,29¢ 4,42¢
Accrued home entertainment expenses 73¢ 1,341
Accrued legal and professional 1,80z 1,90:
Accrued purchases of property and equipment 72C 1,70C
Accrued film liability 2,55¢ 2,65¢
Accrued other 11,21¢ 7,21¢
Total $ 69,44t $ 47,88:

Accrued other at September 30, 20dcludes an accrual for costs associated with ourasbtic television rights agreement, as well dsgl
miscellaneous accruals, none of which categoridivitiually exceeds 5%f current liabilities. The increase in accrued enges is also due
the timing of staff related expenses and an ineréasmanagement incentive compensation based omp@uomperformance and for varic
accrued expenses related to WWE Network operations.

10. Debt

Aircraft Financing

On August 7, 2013, the Company entered into a $&L@omissory note (the “Notelyith RBS Asset Finance, Inc., for the purchase
2007 Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft and refurbishis. The Note bears interest at a rate of 2.p&¥annum, is payable in mont
installments of $406 inclusive of interest, beginning in September20dnd has a final maturity of August 7, 2020. Nwte is secured by
first priority perfected security interest in thewly purchased aircraft. As of September 30, 20ttde amount outstanding under the Note
$26,991 .

Revolving Credit Facility

In September 2011, the Company entered into a $208enior unsecured revolving credit facility withyandicated group of banks, w
JPMorgan Chase acting as administrative agent.iéglpe interest rates for the borrowings underréwlving credit facility are based on
Company's current consolidated leverage ratio. fASeptember 30, 2014 , the LIBOR-based rate plugimavas 2.49% The Company is al:
required to pay a commitment fee calculated atepar annum of 0.375%n the average daily unused portion of the crediilify. Under th:
terms of the revolving credit facility, the Compaisysubject to certain financial covenants andrie&ins, including restrictions on our abil
to pay dividends and limitations with respect to mdebtedness, liens, mergers and acquisitiospoditions of assets, investments, ca
expenditures, and transactions with affiliates.

In April 2013, the Company amended and restatedrefielving credit facility. Under the terms of tlaenended credit facility, (i) tl
maturity date was extended to September 9, 2006;h@nges were made to the applicable margin éordwings under the facility, and (i
restrictions on certain financial covenants weremaded to provide for greater financial flexibility.
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On May 1, 2014, the Company entered into a FirseAdment to its Amended and Restated Credit Fa¢ititye Amendment™) and furth
modified certain financial covenants to provide dgoeater financial flexibility. The Amendment, angoother things, (a) adjusts the consolid
EBITDA calculation for the four quarterly periods 2014 and the first and second quarters of 201pdmnitting the addback of WWE
Network Expenses subject to specified maximum ansoimnsuch periods, (b) increases the consolida®d DA calculation by the amount
any net investments in respect of feature film paiin, subject to specified maximum amounts ferdbarters ending September 30, 201¢
December 31, 2014 and (c) reduces the consolidixedi charge coverage ratio for four quarters inf@nd the first two quarters in 2015 s
that the consolidatefixed charge coverage ratio may not be less thari.D. for the respective quarterly periods endirgrdh 31, 2014, Ju
30, 2014, September 30, 2014 and December 31, #tréasing to 1.10:1.0 for the quarter ending M8, 2015, to 1.15:1.0 for the qua
ending June 30, 2015, and to 1.25:1.0 for the quahding September 30, 20ahd thereafter. The Amendment also includes @
additional allowances for the Company to make itmesits in special film entities.

As of September 30, 2014he Company is in compliance with the provisiofisthe Amendment and has available debt capaciteutie
terms of the revolving credit facility of approxitety $160,000 . As of September 30, 2@ December 31, 2013, there were no am
outstanding under the credit facility.

11. Concentration of Credit Risk

We continually monitor our position with, and theedit quality of, the financial institutions thateacounterparties to our financ
instruments. Our accounts receivable relate prailgigo a limited number of distributors, includimyir network, television, pay-perew anc
home video distributors and licensees that proadweesumer products containing our intellectual tradeks. We closely monitor the statu:
receivables with these customers and maintain alhoes for anticipated losses as deemed appropfiateeptember 30, 2014our larges
single customer balance was approximately 13% pfjoass accounts receivable balance.

12. Income Taxes

As of September 30, 2014 , we had $16,911 of dedetax assets, net included in current assets Bd@7 included in nonurrent asse
in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of Dece®beR013 , we had $12,237 of deferred tax assetsnoluded in current assets &b2|68:
of deferred tax liabilities, net included in Nongemt Income Tax Liabilities in our Consolidated &ate Sheets. The large increase ir
deferred tax asset balance was driven by our dpgrédss in the current year and associated netatipg loss and foreign tax cre
carryforwards.

The Company considers all available evidence, potitive and negative, to determine whether, basethe weight of that evidence
valuation allowance is required to reduce the mé¢mled tax assets to the amount that is moreylitteln not to be realized in future peric
The Company believes that based on past performaxpected future taxable income and prudent aasibe tax planning strategies, i
more likely than not that the net deferred tax egdlebe realized. Changes in these factors majseaus to increase our valuation allowanc
deferred tax assets, which would impact our inctemeexpense in the period we determine that thesters have changed.

13. Film and Television Production Incentives

The Company has access to various governmentafgnsgthat are designed to promote film and telemigiroduction within the Unite
States of America and certain international judidns. Incentives earned with respect to experglton qualifying film, television and otl
production activities, including qualifying capitpiojects, are included as an offset to the relateset or as an offset to production expe
when we have reasonable assurance regarding tieabdéa amount of the incentives. During the ninenths ended September 30, 20
received $3,080 for infrastructure improvement imoes relating to qualifying capital projects. @fis amount $2,937 was recorded as
reduction in property and equipment. We did noeiee any similar incentives for the nine monthsesh&eptember 30, 201®uring the thre
and nine months ended September 30, 2014 and 204 3eceived $1,515 and $1,971 , and $427 and $B8&pectively, of incentives relati
to feature film productions which reduced the edaassets. During the three and nine months enelgi8ber 30, 2014 , we receivgto,83:
of incentives relating to television productionieities that was recorded as an offset to producérpenses. During the three and nine mc
ended
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September 30, 2013, we received $9,805 and $102&pectively of incentives related to televismwoduction activities that were recorde:
an offset to production expenses.

14. Restructuring Charge

On July 31, 2014, the Company announced a restingtplan in support of a cost cutting initiativecluded in this restructuring was

shutdown of our magazine publishing business, fa ishbur gamification strategy, and a reductiorour approved headcount. Additionally,
cost cutting initiatives include reducing prospeetspending throughout our operations. As a redfuthese efforts, the Company recordt
one-time pre-tax restructuring charge of approxetyat$4,200in the third quarter of 2014, comprised primarilf @ cash charge

approximately $2,000 for severance costs and tlite-down of certain assets associated with our fieation business resulting in a noast
charge of approximately $1,800The severance costs are recorded in Selling, i@eaed Administrative expenses in our Consolid
Statements of Income. Approximately $1,X@ash spend related to severance and othercisging charges was paid out in the third qu:
and we anticipate that a majority of the remaidiagility will be paid out over the next two quarte

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceeding:

On July 26, 2014, the Company received notice lafaguit filed in the United States District Couot tthe District of Connecticut, entitl
Warren Ganues and Dominic Varriale, on behalf efrikelves and all others similarly situated, v. \Wakrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vinci
K. McMahon and George A. Barrigsalleging violations of federal securities lawsséd on certain statements relating to the negoiadi
WWE'’s domestic television license. The complaint sesk$ain unspecified damages. A nearly identicalslatvwas filed one month la
entitledCurtis Swanson, on behalf of himself and all otts#nsilarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainntelnc., Vincent K. McMahon ai
George A. Barrios Both lawsuits are purported securities classoastisubject to the Private Securities LitigationfdRa Act of 199!
(“PSLRA"). On September 224, five putative plaintiffs filed motions to beggnted lead plaintiff and to consolidate the tvas&s pursuant
the PSLRA. The Company joined the motion for coidsdion made by the putative lead plaintiffs. Thentpany believes the claims
without merit and intends to vigorously defendlitsgainst them.

On October 25, 2014, the Company received notica pfirported class action lawsuit filed in the @ditStates District Court for t
District of Oregon, entitle@dVilliam Albert Haynes lIl, on behalf of himself amdhers similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Eriégnment, Inc
alleging, among other things, that the Company ealezi and denied medical research and evidencesmong traumatic brain injuri
suffered by WWE's performers. The Company belighesclaims are without merit and intends to vigaty defend itself against them.

In addition to the foregoing, we are involved irvesal other litigations and claims that we consittebe in the ordinary course of
business. By its nature, the outcome of litigatismot known but the Company does not currentlyeekghis litigation to have a mate:

adverse effect on our financial condition, resafteperations or liquidity. We may from time to #nibecome a party to other legal proceeding:

16. Subsequent Event

In October of 2014, the Company received a $50&8ib@nce payment related to a recently executeddala distribution agreement. T
$50,000 advance will be recorded as deferred revand will be reduced as earned per the termscigheement.
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Item 2. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

Background

The following analysis outlines all material actie#s contained within each of our reportable segmen

Media Division:
Network

* Revenues consist principally of subscriptionsWWE Network and fees for viewing our pay-per-viemd video-ondeman
programming.

Television
* Revenues consist principally of television rigfeiss and television advertising fees.
Home Entertainment
» Revenues consist principally of sales of WWE picetl content via home entertainment platforms.
Digital Media
» Revenues consist principally of advertising sale®ar websites, rights fees received for digitaiteat, sales of various broadband

mobile content and magazine publishing.

Live Events
* Revenues consist principally of ticket sales tadel packages for live events.

Consumer Products Division:

Licensing

* Revenues consist principally of royalties or licerises related to various WWE themed products suchideo games, toys ¢
apparel.
Venue Merchandise
* Revenues consist of sales of merchandise afvaievents.
WWEShop

» Revenues consist of sales of merchandise on ebsite through our WWEShop internet storefront.

WWE Studios
* Revenues consist of amounts earned from the timezg in, the production and/or distribution ofrféd entertainment.

Corporate & Other

» Revenues consist of amounts earned from talentappees. Expenses include corporate overhead aaéhoexpenses related to s¢
and marketing, including our international officasd talent development functions.
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Results of Operations

The Company presents OIBDA as the primary measfimegment profit (loss). The Company believes thesgntation of OIBDA
relevant and useful for investors because it allmwestors to view our segment performance in #tmesmanner as the primary method use
management to evaluate segment performance and dwdigions about allocating resources. The Compmhafjnes OIBDA as operatil
income before depreciation and amortization, exolydeature film and television production assebdimation and impairments. OIBDA it
non-GAAP financial measure and may be differenbtbianilarly-titled nonGAAP financial measures used by other companidaniation ol
OIBDA is that it excludes depreciation and amott@a which represents the periodic charge foraiertixed assets and intangible assets
in generating revenues for our business. OIBDA khaot be regarded as an alternative to operatingme or net income as an indicatc
operating performance, or to the statement of flasls as a measure of liquidity, nor should it lmmsidered in isolation or as a substitute
financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAR believe that operating income is the mostatliyecomparable GAAP financi
measure to OIBDA. See Note egment Informatiom the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statésem a reconciliation of OIBDA 1
operating income for the periods presented.
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Results of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014 comparedhie@& Months Ended September 30, 2013
(dollars in millions)

Summary

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)

Net Revenues

Live Events 21.¢ 25.1 (13%

WWE Studios 1.€ 1.€ 6%

Total 120.2 1132 6%

IBDA

Live Events 3.¢ 5.€ (30)%

WWE Studios (95)%

_|
o
=4
L
N
~I
©
~I
~—
~
3
>

Operating (loss) income (5.0 . (25€)%

Investment and other (expense) income, net (1.5) (1,600%

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (4.6) . (611)%

Our Media division revenues increased @%ven primarily the impact of the launch of our VBANetwork. Our Live Events segm
revenues decreased by 13% primarily due to unfélerblorth American venue mix. Our Consumer Produlitssion experienced 47%
increase in revenues, primarily due to increasddo/game royalties. Our WWE Studios segment inerkakightly by $0.1 million.

The comparability of our results in the currentrygaarter were impacted by $4.2 million in restuictg charges of which $2.4 milli
relates to severance and other costs and is irtlid€orporate and Other Expense with $0.3 milliecluded in our Digital Media segme
and $1.8 million relates to the impairment of gacaifion assets and is included in depreciation amdrtization expense. The current
guarter also includes a $4.0 milliompairment of an equity investment and is includedther expense. In the prior year quarter, osulie
were impacted by $7.0 million of impairment chargelated to our film portfolio.
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Media Division

The following tables present the performance redoit our segments within our Media division (dmdlan millions, except where noted):

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
RevenuesMedia Division 2014 2013 (decrease)

Subscriptions $ 22.4 N/A

©
|
©

Video-on-demand 0.€ (100%

Number of paid subscribers at period end 731,35¢ N/A

International 28,47¢ N/A

Number of pay-per-view events 3 3 — %

Average revenue per buy (dollars) $ 12.8: % 19.3¢ (34)%

&

Television $ 42.2 44.¢ (6)%

Gross units shipped 429,00( 718,20( (40)%

©

Total $ 76.¢ 72.7 6 %

Television Ratings

Average weekly household ratings $snackDown 2.2 2.2 — %

Average weekly household ratings Tatal Divas (E!) 1.4 1.4 — %

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Media Division 2014 2013 (decrease)

Television 20.7 21.: 3%

Digital Media 2.C 3.1 (35)%

OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 34% 46%

(a) This is our pricing for our domestic subscréhén certain international territories, subscribesin access the Network by other means, subscripticing
may vary.

(b) Average subscribers shown for 2014 represenatterage level of subscribers over the three mastded September 30, 20WMWE Networkkaunched i
the U.S. on February 24, 2014.
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Network revenues, which include revenues generbyedVWE Network, pay-per-view and video-on-demamnréased 68% o0$10.¢
million in the current quarter as compared to thierpyear quarter as new subscription revenue ntioae offset a decline in pay-peiew
revenue. WWE Network generated $22.4 million inssuiption revenue with approximately 723,000 averpgid subscribers at quartame
During the three months ended September 30, 20IWE Network had approximately 285,000 gross aalatt to its subscriber base, offse
churn of 254,000 subscribers. Gross additions delunique new subscribers and wigeks (subscribers that previously churned out
subsequently became a subscriber). WWE Networkclaohon February 24, 2014 and is a subscriptioaco@3 T product which includes ¢
events previously distributed as pay-per-view eveAs subscribers join WWE Network, it is expectedt pay-periew buys will decreas
Network subscription revenue was partially offsgtad$10.9 million decline in pi-per-view revenue, driven by an overall 68%cline in buy
for the Company’s pay-per-view events and a 3#dline in revenue per buy to $12.83, as a higkergmtage of our buys are now genetr
internationally, which has lower pricing than dotmes Total Network OIBDA as a percentage of revendecreased to 9¥b the current yei
quarter as compared to 48%#the prior year quarter driven mainly by the soassociated with the launch and ongoing suppoosuofWWE
Network. Included in the current quarter resultapproximately $6.7 million of costs related to edising,$2.8 million of programming cos
and $2.7 million of development costs.

The following table contains subscriber data fer tifree months ended September 30, 2014 :

September 30,

2014
Beginning subscribers 699,75:.
Net subscriber additions 31,60"
Ending subscribers 731,35¢

Television revenues, which include revenues geedriibm television rights fees and advertising,rdased by 6% or $2.6 million the
current year quarter as compared to the prior gearter. Our domestic television rights fees desed by $4.1 million, primarily due to -
timing of airing ourTotal Divasprogram, which is carried on the E! Network, aeffewer episodes were aired in the current yearteua:
compared to the prior year quarter. In additioe, diecrease in revenues includes the absence tf fegs from ouMain Eventprogram whic
ceased television distribution in the first quaaéf014 and is currently broadcast on WWE Networkese decreases were partially offse
increases in our international rights business Wwincreased by $1.1 million as a result of contrattncreases for existing programs.
television OIBDA as a percentage of revenues irsgéao 49% from 48% in the prior year quarter.

Home entertainment revenues, which include revegaasrated from the sale of WWE produced contenheime entertainment platfor
such as DVD and Blu-Ray discs, decreased 31% @ $illion in the current year quarter compared to the prearyquarter. This decre:
reflected a 40%lecline in units shipped, combined with a 19% daseein the average price per unit to $9.22. Thérdea unit shipmen
reflects reduced shipments of WWE's catalog titdagch are typically characterized by lower pricesl grofit margins than new releases.
average effective price decline reflected retaitipg pressure on both new releases and cataleg tithich more than offset the impac
product mix. Home entertainment OIBDA as a peragataf revenues decreased to 36% in the currentoeeater compared to 37 the prio
year quarter driven by decreased revenues andtidpato higher talent royaltie

Digital media revenues, which include revenues gted from WWE.com and from our magazine publistbnginess, decreased 3t
$2.2 million . The decrease in revenue was primaelated to a $1.5 million decline in WWE.com reues as pay-peiew webcast sal
declined due to the launch of WWE Network. Addiady, the decrease reflected lower advertising meres across various platfori
Publishing revenues declined by $0.7 million in therent quarter primarily due to the discontinuaoé our print WWE Magazine busine
These declines were partially offset by higher Yolbd royalties versus the prior year quarter aCivapany's video streams continue to
with approximately 3 billion streams year-to-ddteough September 30, 201Digital media OIBDA as a percentage of revenussehsed
40% in the current year quarter compared to 43%he prior year quarter driven primarily by lowewvenues and the discontinuance our
magazine business.
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Live Events

The following tables present the performance resauid key drivers for our Live Events segment éslin millions, except where noted):

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
Revenues Live Events 2014 2013 (decrease)

North America $ 172 % 17t ()%

Total live event attendance 421,30( 435,20( 3%
- Numberof North Americanevents 73 6 18%
Average North American attendance 5,10( 5,50( (7%
- Average North American ticket price (dollars) ~$ 4460 $ 467 (5%
Number of international events 6 14 (57%
- Average interational attendance ~770C  &70C 15%
Average international ticket price (dollars) $ 92.8¢ % 72.3( 28 %

Total live events $ 21.¢ $ 25.1 (13%

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Live Events 2014 2013 (decrease)

Travel packages 0.1 — 10C %

OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 18% 22%

Live events revenues, which include revenues frimket sales and travel packages, decreased 1398.8rrillion in the current yei
quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. Re from our international live events businessaised by $3.2 millioprimarily due t
the staging of eight fewer events in the curresarypiarter as compared to the prior year quarteichwwas partially offset by a 28%crease i
average ticket prices to $92.89 and a 1B%rease in average attendance. The changes ist timkices and average attendance
predominantly due to changes in country mix. Reesnfrom our North America live events business esed by $0.2 million or 1%
primarily due to an overall 7% lower average attem® and a 5% decrease in average ticket prick44®0due to venue mix. The decre
was partially offset by staging eleven additiona¢m@s. Live events OIBDA as a percentage of reverdeereased to 18% the current ye;i
quarter compared to 22% in the prior year quadieven in part, by higher event venue costs antharease in production costs.
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Consumer Products Division

The following tables present the performanceiltesand key drivers for our Consumer Productssitivi (dollars in millions, exce
where noted):

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase

RevenuesConsumer Products Division 2014 2013 (decrease)
Licensing $ 10.C $ 5.7 75 %
Venue merchandise 4.2 4.C 5%

Domestic per capita spending (dollars) $ 9.6¢ $ 9.5t 2%
WWEShop 4.3 2.¢ 48 %

Average WWEShop revenues per order (dollars) $ 475¢ % 48.8i 3%
Total $ 18 ¢ 12.¢ 47 %

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Consumer Products Division 2014 2013 (decrease)
Licensing $ 5 % 3.2 79 %
Venue merchandise 1.€ 1.7 (6)%
WWEShop 0.7 0.t 40 %
Total $ 82 % 5.k 49 %
OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 44% 44%

Licensing revenues increased 75% or $4.3 milliorthe current year quarter as compared to ther gear quarter primarily driven
higher contractual royalty rates in the currentrygaarter compared to the prior year quarter fdewi game revenue. Licensing OIBDA
percentage of revenues increased slightly to 598bdrcurrent year quarter compared to 58% in the gear quarter.

Venue merchandise revenues increased by $0.2 mitlithe current year quarter as compared to tloe pear quarter primarily due29¢
increase in per capital merchandise spend at dareaints, which was partially offset by a 38wer total attendance. The venue merchal
OIBDA as a percentage of revenues decreased tofi288643% in the prior year quarter due to highesréwenue costs.

WWEShop revenues increased 48% or $1.4 millioténdurrent year quarter compared to the prior gyearter, based on a 50¥creas
in the volume of online merchandise sales to apprately 89,90Mmrders globally. Orders increased primarily duentmbile shop optimizatic
and a distribution strategy in the UK utilizing Artan UK. The average revenue per order decreasetb 347.59in the current year quar
compared to the prior year quarter. WWEShop OIBBMAgercentage of revenues decreased to 16% qutient year quarter from 176 the
prior year quarter due to lower margins relateshternational sales.

26




Table of Contents

WWE Studios
The following table presents the detailed informiatior our WWE Studios segment (dollars in millians

Feature
Film
Production

Assetsnet as
of For the Three Months Ended September 30,

Release Production Sept 30, Inception to-date Revenue OIBDA
Title Date Costs* 2014 Revenue OIBDA 2014 2013 2014 2013

Leprechaun:

Origins Aug 2014 $ 1C $ 1C $ — % — 3 SNA $ — $N/A

Scooby Doo!
WrestleMania
Mystery Mar 2014 1.3 1.C 0.5 0.2 0.t N/A 0.2 N/A

N
o
=
w

12 Rounds 2:
Reloaded June 2013 14 1.C 0.8 0.4 0.3 — 0.2 —
The Call Mar 2013 1.C 0.4 4.C 34 0.2 — 0.1 —
The Marine 3:
Homefront Mar 2013 1.5 0.8 1.2 0.€ 0.4 — 0.2 —

=
o
(82}
=
o
(82}

In production

Sub-total $ 153: $ 27¢ $ 11531 $ (358 $ 1£ $ 1€ 0.8 (6.5)

Total $ 049 $ (79

*

Production costs are presented net of thecat®d benefit of production incentives.

During the current year quarter, we released dne direct to DVD, Leprechaun: OriginsDuring 2013, the Companyentered into ¢
agreement to co-distribute the feature fliRnad to Paloma This film was released via a limited theatricglease and on DVD in July 20
The Company intends to recognize revenue genelatdtis film in a manner similar to how it recoge&revenue for its licensed films.
2014, the Company did not record any revenue as®acivith this release. Third-party distributorsitrol the distribution and marketing of co-
distributed films, and as a result, we recognizemnéie on a net basis after the thakty distributor recoups distribution fees andenges ar
results are reported to us. Results are typicalborted to us in quarters subsequent to the imglehse of these films. We did not release
feature films in the prior year quarter.

WWE Studios revenues increased $0.1 millioithe current year quarter as compared to the gear quarter. The revenue recognize
the current year quarter is primarily associatetth wur 2013 portfolio of film releases. WWE StudiotBDA increased $7.0 millioprimarily
due to recording impairment charges totaling $7il0an in the prior year quarter.
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At September 30, 2014 , the Company had $27.9 anifhet of accumulated amortization and impairmentrgbs) of feature filr
production assets capitalized on its Consolidatathie Sheet of which $11.8 million is for filmsriglease, $10.5 millioms for films in
production and the remaining $5.6 millianfor films that are completed, pending releasede@velopmental projects. We review and re
estimates of ultimate revenue and participatiortscas the end of each reporting quarter to refleetmost current information available
estimates for a film’s ultimate revenue are reviaad indicate a significant decline in a fisrprofitability or if events or circumstances che
that would indicate we should assess whether thedbue of a film is less than its unamortizearfitosts, we calculate the film's estimated
value using a discounted cash flows model. If¥ailue is less than unamortized cost, the film aissetitten down to fair value.

Three Months Ended

Revenues Corporate & Other September 30, September 30, increase
(dollars in millions ) 2014 2013 (decrease)
Other $ 1.1 % 1.1 —%

Other revenues include revenues associated wéhttappearances and were flat in the periods.

Three Months Ended

OIBDA - Corporate & Other September 30, September 30, increase
(dollars in millions ) 2014 2013 (decrease)
Corporate & Other $ (35.9 $ (27.7) 27%

Corporate & Other Expenses

The following table presents the amounts and pé¢ct@nge of certain significant corporate and othgrenses (dollars in millions):

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase

2014 2013 (decrease)
Staff related $ 14¢ % 114 30%
Management incentive compensation 2.8 0.t 46C %
Legal, accounting and other professional 4.¢ 3.t 40%
Travel and entertainment expense 1.4 1.2 8 %
Advertising, marketing and promotion 2.1 1.€ 17%
Corporate insurance 1.C 1.2 A%
Bad debt recovery (0.9 (0.2 10C %
All other 9.8 9.3 5%
Total corporate & other expenses $ 364 % 28.¢ 26 %
Corporate & Other as a percentage of net revenues 3C% 25%

Corporate and other expenses primarily include @mae overhead and certain expenses related te aatk marketing, including c
international offices, and talent development fiord, including costs associated with our WWE Penence Center. These costs benefi
Company as a whole and are therefore not allodatéddividual businesses. Corporate and other esgmincreased $7.6 million or 2686
compared to the prior year quarter. The increasexpenses during the quarter was primarily driverat$5.7 million increase in salary ¢
benefit costs, in part, related to severance @sssciated with our restructuring plan and incréasanagement incentive compensation b
upon Company performance, as well, as a $1.4 milliorease in professional fees in support of trategic objectives.
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Depreciation and Amortization
(dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
Depreciation and amortization $ 77 $ 6.5 18%

Depreciation expense for the current year quantgudes an impairment charge of $1.8 million reldtea shift in digital gaming strategy
as part our restructuring plan.

Investment Income, Interest and Other (Expense) Imeme, Net
(dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
Loss on equity investment $ 4.0 $ — (200%
Investment income, interest and other (expenseniec net (1.9 0.1 (1,600%

The current year quarter includes an impairmentgghaf $4.0 millionon an equity investment for the excess of the aagryalue over it
estimated fair value. Investment income, interest aher (expense) income, net yielded an expeh$&.5 million compared to income §0.1
million in the prior year quarter reflecting chasge realized foreign exchange losses of $0.9 onilli

Income Taxes
(dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ (4.6 $ 0.¢ (611)%
Effective tax rate 44% 27%

The Company recorded a tax benefit of $4.6 miléssociated with our operating loss in the quaiitee Company currently believes 1
benefit is realizable and has not recorded a vialuallowance against the related deferred taxtasiet becomes more likely than not that
Company will not realize these benefits, a valuatibowance would be recorded with a correspondhmyge to our income tax provision.
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Results of Operations

Nine Months EndecSeptember 30, 2014 compared to Nine Months Endegt&aber 30, 2013
(dollars in millions)

Summary

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)

Net Revenues

Live Events 83.¢ 87.1 (4%

WWE Studios 8.C 5.8 38%

Total 402.1 389.¢ 3%

IBDA

Live Events 23.2 27.2 (15)%

WWE Studios 0.¢ (12.9 107 %

Total (19.9) 35.¢ (159)%

Operating (loss) income (39.9) . (319%

Investment and other expense, net 2.1 31%

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (17.9) . (399%

Our Media division revenues increased 8eitven primarily due to the impact of the launchoof new WWE Network and increases fi
our Television segment. Our Live Events segmergmaes declined by 4% due to decreased stadiumitapad ticket prices atVrestleManii
due to the venue location and the staging of tevefenternational events. Our Consumer Productssidiv experienced a 7%ecline ir
revenues, primarily driven by lower licensing rewes from our video games. Our WWE Studios segnedtgcted a $2.2 millionncrease i
revenues driven by the timing of our film releaaad the related revenue from our movie portfolio.

The comparability of our results in the currentrypariod were impacted by $4.2 million in restruitg charges of which $2.4 millic
relates to severance and other costs and is intlid€orporate and Other Expense with $0.3 milliecluded in our Digital Media Segme
and $1.8 million relates to the impairment of gagaifion assets and is included in depreciation @mdrtization expense. The current \
period also includes a $4.0 millidampairment of an equity investment and is includedther expense and a $1.6 million adjustmenetct
the carrying value of the old corporate aircrafittoestimated fair value, included in depreciatgxpense. In the prior year period, our re
were impacted by $11.7 million of impairment charge




The following tables present the performance regoit our segments within our Media division (dmlan millions, except where noted):

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
RevenuesMedia Division 2014 2013 (decrease)

&
N
o
NN

Subscriptions N/A

©+
o
)
©+

Video-on-demand 2.8 (90)%

Number of paid subscribers at period end 731,35¢ N/A

International 28,47¢ N/A

Number of pay-per-view events 9 8 13%

Average revenue per buy (dollars) $ 20.2¢ % 21.8( (N%

[=)

Pay-per-view domestic retail prigérestleMania(dollars) $ 509t % 59.9¢ — %

Home Entertainment $ 195

Digital Media $ 16.¢ $

Average weekly household ratings RAW 3.t 34 3%

Average weekly household ratings Wé¥WE Main Event 1.C 0.¢ 11%

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Media Division 2014 2013 (decrease)

Television 43.C 447 (4)%

Digital Media 0.8 5.5 (85)%

OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 18% 34%
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(‘@) This is our pricing for our domestic subscribémscertain international territories, subscribeas access the Network by other means, subsariptioing
may vary.

(b) Average subscribers shown for 2014 represenatierage level of subscribers over the nine mambed September 30, 201JMWE Networkaunched in
the U.S. on February 24, 2014.

Network revenues, which include revenues genelafeWE Network, pay-per-view and video-on-demamdyeéased by $18.1 millioin
the current year period as compared to the priar period. WWE Network, which launched on Februzty 2014, accounted f@46.2 millior
in new digital subscription revenues in the curnggdr period with approximately 515,000 averaga gaibscribers for the nine months er
September 30, 2014 . During the nine months endgdesiber 30, 2014WWE Network had approximately 1,154,000 grossitamts to it
subscriber base, offset by churn of 423,000 subes®iG ross additions include unique new subscribers amdbacks (subscribers tt
previously churned out and subsequently becamebacgber). The subscription to WWE Network is $9/8& month with a 6 mon
commitment or $12.99 a month with no commitmentiqger WWE Network is a 24/7 streaming network thabvides access to live a
scheduled programming, including all 12 of WWE'gelipay-per-view events, as well as access to itgpeehensive video-odemand library
The $46.2 million of revenues generated by WWE Nekwn the current year period was partially offegtthe decline in pay-pesiew revenu
of $25.5 million due primarily to a 34% declinetintal pay-perview buys primarily attributable to WWE Network&uhch. Additionally, th
average revenue per buy declined by 7% to apprdgigng20.29 per buy due to a higher portion of payview buys coming fro
international markets in which have lower effectmécing. In addition, video-odemand revenues decreased by $2.6 million duee
cessation of our Classics On Demand offering irudan2014 in anticipation of the launch of WWE NetWw in February. Total Netwo
OIBDA as a percentage of revenues decreased &safdl0% in the current year period as comparedpfit of 30%in the prior year peric
driven mainly by the costs associated with the ¢auand ongoing support of our WWE Network. In suppéd the network launch, we incur
$15.0 million of advertising costs, $11.2 millioh @istomer service costs in anticipation of initaistomer demand and inquiries and $
million of programing costs.

Television revenues, which include revenues geeédrfiom television rights fees and advertisingréased by $4.9 milliom the currer
year period as compared to the prior year periodr domestic television rights fees increase@1.8 million, primarily due to the timing
airing ourTotal Divasprogram, which is carried on the E! Network, asdbeent year period included Season 2 and paeakon 3 compar
to the prior year period which included only paftSeason 1. This increase was partially offseth®y dbsence of rights fees from ddain
Eventand Saturday Morning Slanprograms which ceased television distribution ie flist quarter of 2014 and second quarter of z
respectively.Main Eventcurrently is broadcast on WWE NetworkAdditionally, our international television righteds increased by $:
million. The television OIBDA as a percentage @fenues decreased to 34% from 37% in the prior yedod primarily due to product mix.

Home entertainment revenues, which include revegaasrated from the sale of WWE produced contenhgime entertainment platfor
such as DVD and Blu-Ray discs, increased by $0lBomin the current year period compared to the pri@ryeeriod. This increase was du
part to the recognition of a $2.5 million minimuraagantee from our home video distributer. Thiséase was offset by a decrease in dorr
home entertainment revenue which fell by $2.3 orillidue to a 28% decline in shipments to 2.1 nmillimits and a 6% decline in the avel
price per unit to $9.70. Home entertainment OlBBagpercentage of revenues increased to 53% tuthent year period compared to 48%
the prior year period driven by the recognitiortied minimum guarantee and the lack of associatedhta costs.

Digital media revenues, which include revenues gird from WWE.com and from our magazine publistbhoginess, decreased $4.€
million . WWE.com revenues decreased by $3.1 nmlliothe current year period compared to the préar period due to digital pay-peiew
revenue cannibalization by WWE Network and decréasenetization of video content across varioustadigilatforms. This decrease v
partially offset by higher advertising versus thimpyear period. Publishing revenues decrease#ilby millionprimarily due to decreased ¢
through prior to the discontinuance of our print \E\Wagazine business in the third quarter of 201iditd# media OIBDA as a percentage
revenues decreased to 5% in the current year pgdod25% in the prior year period driven by thelde in digital pay-periew buy revenur
decreased performance of our publishing businedsaalatively fixed cost structure.
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Live Events

The following tables present the performance resauid key drivers for our Live Events segment éslin millions, except where noted):

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
Revenues Live Events 2014 2013 (decrease)

North America $ 66.5 $ 67.€ 2%

Total live event attendance 1,454,501 1,483,701 (2)%

Average North American attendance 6,10( 6,10( — %

Number of international events 29 39

Average international ticket price (dollars) $ 79.9¢ % 69.92 14%

Total live events $ 83.6 $ 87.1 (4%

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Live Events 2014 2013 (decrease)

Travel packages 0.8 0.7 14%

OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 28% 31%

Live events revenues, which include revenues fricket sales and travel packages, decreased byn§iBi®n in the current year period
compared to the prior year period. Revenues fromNmurth America live events business decreased $illlibn or 2%, primarily due to th
performance o¥WrestleMania 3Q which experienced decreased attendance as & oéstddium capacity, partially due to configuoatiwhict
was partially offset by staging three additionaéms in the current year period. Overall, totalrage attendance and average ticket
remained flat. Our international live events busgdecreased $3.4 milligrprimarily driven by ten fewer events held, whigas offset, in pai
by an increase in average ticket prices and teseleextent average attendance in the currentpgesnd as compared to the prior year pe
Live events OIBDA as a percentage of revenues dserkto 28% in the current year period compar&d %in the prior year period, driven
part, by higher talent and advertising related esps.
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Consumer Products Division

The following tables present the performanceiltesand key drivers for our Consumer Productssitivi (dollars in millions, exce
where noted):

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
RevenuesConsumer Products Division 2014 2013 (decrease)
Licensing $ 29.5 % 36.4 19%
Venue merchandise 15.7 16.C (2)%
Domestic per capita spending (dollars) $ 9.7¢ $ 10.6¢ (8)%
WWEShop 12.t 9.t 32%
Average WWEShop revenues per order (dollars) $ 49.1F % 48.2: 2%
Total $ 571 $ 61.¢ (7%
Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30, increase
OIBDA -Consumer Products Division 2014 2013 (decrease)
Licensing $ 162 $ 27.1 (40)%
Venue merchandise 6.3 6.2 2%
WWEShop 2.4 1.7 41 %
Total $ 25z % 35.€ (29%
OIBDA as a percentage of revenues 44% 58%

Licensing revenues decreased by $6.9 mililothe current year period as compared to the year period driven largely by the inclus
in the prior year period of an $8.0 million favolatbenefit in connection with the termination ofrdormer video game licensee, Tk
whereby the Company recognized $8.0 million of naerelated to an advance received when the Comgrateyed into the license agreen
with THQ in 2009. Additionally, to a lesser extetite remainder of the decline in licensing revenigeattributable to lower licensing reve
performance from our toys and apparel. These deesewere partially offset by the transition to avnddeo game licensee, TaKavo
Interactive which resulted in a $2.9 million incsean our video game revenues. Licensing OIBDA peraentage of revenues was 5ifthe
current year period compared to 7@¥the prior year period. The OIBDA margin in thegp year period reflected a positive benefit assec
with the recognition of the advance received frorQr

Venue merchandise revenues decreased by $0.3miillithe current year period as compared to the year period primarily due to
8% decline in per capita merchandise spend at onoredtic events to $9.78 the current year period. The venue merchandi8D@ as ¢
percentage of revenues increased to 40% from i8Wte prior year period driven by decreased malttedsts, talent royalties and lower e\
venue costs.

WWEShop revenues increased by $3.0 million in threent year period compared to the prior year peti@sed on a 29%crease in tr
volume of online merchandise sales to approxima®&@,200orders. Orders increased primarily due to mobilepsbptimization and
distribution strategy in the UK utilizing Amazon UK he average revenue per order increased 2% td 549 the current year peric
WWEShop OIBDA as a percentage of revenues remaglatively consistent in the periods at approxiryai®% .
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WWE Studios

The following table presents the detailed informiatior our WWE Studios segment (dollars in millians

Feature
Film
Production
Assets-net as For the Nine Months Ended
of September 30,
Release Production Sept 30, Inception to-date Revenue OIBDA
Title Date Costs* 2014 Revenue OIBDA 2014 2013 2014 2013

Leprechaun: Origins Aug 2014  $ 1C $ 1C $ — % — $ — $NA $§ — $N/A
Scooby Doo!
WrestleMania

Mystery Mar 2014 1.3 1. 0.5 0.2 0. N/A 0.2 N/A

Christmas Bounty ~ Nov 2013 3.7 0.1 4.1 0.t

N/A (0.3 N/A

No One Lives May 2013 2.2 0.4 0.9 (0.8

I
o
o

I

0.9)

Dead Man Down Mar 2013 5.8 1.C — (4.7) (4.7)

15.€ 3.7 11.C (0.6) 5.6 0.¢ 4. (5.5)

Prior Releases 116.: 3.1 103.¢ (31.0) 1.¢ 4.¢ 0.7 (4.8

Completed but not released 5.1 5.1 — — — — — _

In development 0.t 0.t

Selling, General & Administrative
Expenses (3.9 (2.9

*

Production costs are presented net of theca®d benefit of production incentives.

During the current year period, we released oneifedilm via theatrical distributiorQculus, and two films direct to DVDScooby Doo
WrestleMania,and Leprechaun: Origins During 2013, the Company entered into an agreement to co-dig#rithe feature filmRoad tc
Paloma. This film was released via a limited theatricaease and on DVD in July 2014. The Company intéadecognize revenue gener:
by this film in a manner similar to how it recogaszrevenue for its licensed films. In 2014, the @any did not record any revenue assoc
with this release. Third-party distributors conttioé distribution and marketing of abstributed films, and as a result, we recognizenee o
a net basis after the thipghrty distributor recoups distribution fees andenges and results are reported to us. Resulty@Ecalty reported t
us in quarters subsequent to the initial releas¢he$e films. During the prior year period, we aslked three feature films via theatr
distribution,No One Lives Dead Man DowrandThe Calland two films,12 Rounds 2: ReloadethdThe Marine 3: Homefrordirect to DVD.
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WWE Studios revenues increased $2.2 milliorthe current year period as compared to the g@ar period. The increase in revent
driven by the timing of our film releases and whmamticipation statements are received. In the otiryear period, we recogniz&®.7 millior
in revenue from our licensed filnThe Call,which was released in 2013. WWE Studios OIBDA iased $13.7 millionin the current yei
period as compared to the prior year period, dugaim, to the profitability offhe Call, and the absence of impairment charges in thesi
year period, a$11.7 million of impairment charges were recordethe prior year period.

At September 30, 2014 , the Company had $27.9 anifhet of accumulated amortization and impairmentrgbs) of feature filr
production assets capitalized on its Consolidatathie Sheet of which $11.8 million is for filmsriglease, $10.5 milliofis for films in
production and the remaining $5.6 milligs for films that are completed, pending releasedevelopmental projects. We review and re
estimates of ultimate revenue and participatiortscas the end of each reporting quarter to reffleketmost current information available
estimates for a film’s ultimate revenue are reviaad indicate a significant decline in a fikrprofitability or if events or circumstances che
that would indicate we should assess whether thedhie of a film is less than its unamortizearfitosts, we calculate the film's estimated
value using a discounted cash flows model. Iffaiue is less than unamortized cost, the film aissetitten down to fair value.

Nine Months Ended

Revenues Corporate & Other September 30, September 30, increase
(dollars in millions ) 2014 2013 (decrease)
Other $ 2z % 2.3 (4)%

Other revenues, which include revenues associaféd talent appearances, decreased by $0.1 milliothe current year period
compared to the prior year period.

Nine Months Ended

OIBDA - Corporate & Other September 30, September 30, increase
(dollars in millions ) 2014 2013 (decrease)
Corporate & Other $ (114.0 $ (93.0) 22%

Corporate & Other Expenses

The following table presents the amounts and pémd®ange of certain significant corporate and othgrenses (dollars in millions):

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase

2014 2013 (decrease)
Staff related $ 41¢ 8 36.t 15%
Management incentive compensation 9.4 5.1 84%
Legal, accounting and other professional 17.4 11.C 58 %
Travel and entertainment expense 4.9 3.€ 36 %
Advertising, marketing and promotion 7.2 5.6 22%
Corporate insurance 2.7 3.1 (13%
Bad debt recovery (0.9 (0.9 — %
All other 33.1 30.€ 8%
Total corporate & other expenses $ 116.2 $ 95.4 22%
Corporate & Other as a percentage of net revenues 2% 24%

Corporate and other expenses primarily include @aie overhead and certain expenses related teabes and marketing, including
international offices, and talent development fiord, including costs associated with our WWE Penence Center. These costs benefi
Company as a whole and are therefore not allodatadlividual businesses. Corporate and other
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expenses increased by $20.8 million or 2i20the current year period compared to the pri@rygeriod. This is primarily due to increase
professional fees of $6.4 million , management mtiwe compensation of $4.3 millioreflecting amounts expected to be paid based ¢
Company's operating performance, and staff relabquenses of $5.4 millioprimarily to support talent development and otheatsgic
objectives. Staff related expenses in the curreat period includes $2.0 million in severance assed with our restructuring plan.

Depreciation and Amortization
(dollars in millions)

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
Depreciation and amortization $ 206 $ 17.¢ 16%

Depreciation expense in the current year periotliites a benefit of $1.4 million from the recognitiof an infrastructure tax credit. T
credit was used to reduce the carrying value ofaeets as of their iservice date and consequently the adjustment toediggion expen:
reflects the revised amount incurred to date. Théslit was received in the current year but reldtedssets placed in service in prior ye
Additionally, the current year balance includesaaljustment of $1.6 millioto reduce the carrying value of our old corporateraft to its
estimated fair value and an impairment charge @ #$iillion related to a shift in our digital gaming strateglated to our gamification platfol
as part of our restructuring plan. Overall deprigmiaexpense in the current year was higher duedéepreciation expense related to
Company's recent investments in property and eqeipno support our emerging content distributidiort$, including our WWE Network.

Investment Income, Interest and Other Expense, Net
(dollars in millions)

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
Loss on equity investment $ 4.0 $ — (100%
Investment income, interest and other expense, net (2.2) (1.6) 31%

In the current year period, we recorded a lossroaquity investment of $4.0 millioninvestment income, interest and other expeng
yielded an expense $2.1 million compared to $1.6 million in the priggar period, reflecting lower investment income.

Income Taxes
(dollars in millions)

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30, increase
2014 2013 (decrease)
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes $ 179 % 5.€ (399%
Effective tax rate 38% 36%

The Company recorded a tax benefit of $17.3 milisaociated with our operating loss in the curresatr yperiod. The Company currel
believes this benefit is realizable and has nobnded a valuation allowance against the relatedrdsd tax assets. If it becomes more i
than not that the Company will not realize thesedfi¢s, a valuation allowance would be recordedhwitcorresponding charge to our inct
tax provision.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and short-term investments of $68.flomiand $109.4 million as of September 30, 2GdrH December 31, 20:
respectively. Our short-term investments consishgrily of corporate bonds and municipal bonds)udmng prerefunded municipal bond
Our debt balance totaled $27.0 million and $29.8ioni as of September 30, 205hd December 31, 2013, respectively, and is relatate
financing of our corporate aircraft purchased irgst 2013.

On February 24, 2014, the Company launched WWE bigtvan over-th@ep subscription based platform for subscriberadoess WW
content, including our marquis pay-per-view eveqiar pay-perview business was impacted by WWE Network and them@any expects
continue investing in WWE Network, both in terms aferating and capital expenditures. We believeé tash provided by operatio
including an upcoming $50 million advance paymessgogiated with our recently announced domestiwitgten rights deal, our existing c¢
and investment balances, as well as availabledityuunder our revolving credit facility, will beufficient to meet our operating requireme
over the next 12 months. Longerm results of WWE Network's launch, specificalybscriber adoption rates could have a profoundipe
or negative impact on the Company’s liquidity anaymequire additional actions by the Company taiobliquidity.

Our uses of cash include dividend payments, deiicese spending on feature film production, capixipenditures, and additiol
operating costs associated with WWE Network.

Borrowing Capacity
In May 2014, we entered into a First Amendmentuoamended and restated $200 million revolving itfedility to provide for financie
flexibility during our Network launch. As of Septéer 30, 2014 the Company is in compliance with the provisiohghe credit facility an

has available debt capacity under the terms ofakielving credit facility of approximately $160.0ilkion . As of September 30, 2014nc
December 31, 2013, there were no amounts outstguudider the credit facility.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash flows used in operating activities were $5ililan in the current year period as compared t8.81million generated from operatic
for the corresponding period in the prior year. &.4 millionincrease in cash used in operating activities iedrby changes in operati
performance, including increased spending for #um¢h and ongoing support of WWE Network, as wellfeom increased spending on f
and television production assets. These increases partially offset by a $5.1 million reductianthe annual payout of management ince|
compensation related to the Company'’s previous gedormance as compared to the prior year pemadogher changes in working capital.

In the current year period, we spent $15.3 millbonfeature film production activities, compareds&6 million in the prior year period.
the current year period, we received $ihOncentives related to feature film productiohsthe prior year period, we received $0.9 millia
incentives related to feature film productions. #icipate spending between $4.0 million and $7lllam on feature film production activitit
during the remainder of the current year.

I n the current year period, we recognized $13.8ianilbf nonfilm related incentives including infrastructuresdits, compared to $1(
million in the prior year periods. The current yeamount includes credits associated with qualifyiagital projects which are reflectec
investing activities discussed below.

During the current year period, we spent $14.8iomlto produce additional content, includimgtal Divas Season &d programming fi
WWE Network, compared to $8.7 millian the prior year period. We anticipate spendingrapimately $5.0 million to $7.0 million to prodt
additional content, includingotal Divasand programming for WWE Network content during temainder of the current year.

Our accounts receivable represent a significantigrorof our current assets and relate principadlyat limited number of custome
distributors and licensees that produce consumaduats containing our trademark&.t September 30, 2014our largest single custon
balance was approximately 1386 our gross accounts receivable balance. Chamgt#gifinancial condition or operations of our dimitors
customers or licensees may result in increasegeglpayments or nopayments which would adversely impact our cash $lénom operatin
activities and/or our results of operations.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows generated from investing activities %8%.0 millionin the current year period as compared to cash insewesting activitie
of $43.8 million in the prior year period. The irese of $74.8 million was primarilyelated to a $29.9 million increase in net invest
activity (purchases and proceeds), a reductiorapital spending as a result of the Company's pseclofia new corporate aircraft in the p
year period and sale of the old corporate airdrafihe current year and a reduction in capital gpenof $9.1 million . Additionally, the
increase was as a result of proceeds from infratsirel tax credits related to capital projects aP38illion as compared to the prior year pet
For the remainder of 2014, we also anticipate sipgnadpproximately $3.0 million to $5.0 million ohe purchase of property and equipn
and other assets.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities was $29illien for the current year period as compared to caskrgéed from financing activiti
of $2.6 million for the prior year period. The Coamy paid dividends of approximately $27 millianboth the current and prior year peric
The prior year period reflects $29.7 millianproceeds from the issuance of a note payabkrehinto in August 2013 related to the purc
of our new corporate aircraft. In the current ypariod, we paid $3.0 milliomf scheduled principal payments related to the nerporat
aircraft debt compared to $0.3 million in the pyear period.

Contractual Obligations

There have been no significant changes to our acial obligations that were previously disclosediir Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal period ended December 31, 2013.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Other than the addition of revenue recognition antiog and programming amortization accounting gief related to WWE Netwa
launched in February 2014, there have been nofisigni changes to our accounting policies that weeviously disclosed in our Report
Form 10K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 ah&xmethodology used in formulating these sigaificjudgments and estima
that affect the application of these policies. &oeounting policies for WWE Network are describetbly.

» Revenue Recognition for WWE Netw:
Revenues are recognized ratably over each montembarship period. Deferred revenue consists of meship fees billed to memb:
that have not been recognized and gift membershgihave not been redeemed.

»  Programming Amortization for WWE Netwc
For episodic programming debuting and currentlyeexgd to air exclusively on our Network, the cokthe programming is expens

upon initial release, as our expectation is thatwast majority of viewership will occur in closeogimity to the initial release. We w
monitor this assumption and potentially revise poficy if actual viewership patterns vary.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

I n May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting StandardddtipNo. 2014-09'Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606Jhis
ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requ@ets in ASC 605, “Revenue Recognition”, and mogdtsgtryspecific guidance. The A<
requires an entity to recognize revenue in an amthat reflects the consideration to which thetgrekpects to receive in exchange for g¢
or services. This guidance is effective for anmegbrting periods beginning after December 15, 28i® early adoption is not permitted. 1
standard update is effective for our fiscal yeagiteing of January 1, 2017. We are currently evitigathe impact of the adoption of this r
standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standatdjsdate No. 2014-08,'Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 208}
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Topic 360): RepatDiscontinued Operations and Disclosures of Dsst® of Components of an Entil.
This ASU updated the accounting guidance relatetigoontinued operations. The updated accountindggee provides a narrower definit
of discontinued operations than existing GAAP. Tipelated accounting guidance requires that onlyodesis of components of an entity
groups of components, that represent a stratedictisiit has or will have a material effect on tegorting entitys operations be reported in
financial statements as discontinued operationse Tpdated accounting guidance also provides guidaort the financial statemi
presentations and disclosures of discontinued tipasa On July 1, 2014, we early adopted this aoting standard update which did not h
a material effect on our consolidated financialesteents.
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Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the “Safe Hart Provisions of the Private Securities LitigatioReform Act of 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9provides a “safe harbor” for certain statemeht ire forwardeoking and are n
based on historical facts. When used in this Fobr@Q1the words “may,” “will,” “could,” “anticipaté,“plan,” “continue,” “project,” “intend”,
“estimate”, “believe”, “expect” and similar exprésss are intended to identify forward-looking statmts, although not all forwaldeking
statements contain such words. These statemeats telour future plans, objectives, expectationsiatentions and are not historical facts
accordingly involve known and unknown risks andentainties and other factors that may cause theabogsults or the performance by u
be materially different from future results or merhance expressed or implied by such forwlaaking statements. The following factc
among others, could cause actual results to diffeterially from those contained in forward-lookistatements made in this Form @Q-in
press releases and in oral statements made byuthoreed officers: (i) risks relating to enteringaintaining and renewing major distribut
agreements; (ii) risks relating to the launch apdrations of our digital WWE Network; (iii) our fare to continue to develop creative
entertaining programs and events would likely lé@aa decline in the popularity of our brand of et@imment; (iv) our failure to retain
continue to recruit key performers could lead ttealine in the appeal of our storylines and theutemity of our brand of entertainment; (v)
unexpected loss of the services of Vincent K. Mchtabould adversely affect our ability to create yap characters and creative storyline
otherwise adversely affect our operations; (vigalithe in the popularity of our brand of sportsegtginment, including as a result of change
the social and political climate, could adverseffe@ our business; (vii) changes in the regulatatynosphere and related private se
initiatives could adversely affect our businessij)(the markets in which we operate are highly gatitive, rapidly changing and increasin
fragmented, and we may not be able to compete tefédg, especially against competitors with gredieancial resources or marketpl:
presence; (ix) we face uncertainties associateld international markets; (x) we may be prohibiteahf promoting and conducting our |
events and/or other businesses if we do not comjplyapplicable regulations; (xi) because we depamoh our intellectual property rights,
inability to protect those rights, or our infringent of others’intellectual property rights, could adversely affear business; (xii) we cot
incur substantial liability in the event of accideor injuries occurring during our physically derdang events; (xiii) our live events expost
to risks relating to large public events as welltr@sel to and from such events; (xiv) we continaegface risks inherent in our feature f
business; (xv) in addition to the launch of WWE Wetk, we could face a variety of risks if we expantb new or complementary busines
and/or make strategic investments; (xvi) risks teglato our computer systems and online operati¢nsi) decline in general econon
conditions and disruption in financial markets cbablversely affect our business; (xviii) our acdasueceivable represent a significant poi
of our current assets and relate principally toratéd number of distributors and licensees, insirg@ our exposure to bad debts and poten
impacting our results of operations;(xix) our dyilio access our revolving credit facility may lmited due to certain financial covenants
restrictions; (xx) we could incur substantial liii@s if litigation is resolved unfavorably; (xxgur failure to meet market expectations for
financial performance could adversely affect thekatprice and volatility of our stock; (xxii) thugh his beneficial ownership of a substal
majority of our Class B common stock, our contrajlistockholder, Vincent K. McMahon, can exercisstaal over our affairs, and his intere
may conflict with the holders of our Class A comnsinck; (xxiii) a substantial number of shares eligible for sale by Mr. McMahon a
members of his family or trusts established foirthenefit, and the sale, or the perception of fidsssales, of those shares could lower
stock price; and (xxiv) risks related to the relaly small public “float”of our Class A common stock. In addition, our dend is dependent
a number of factors, including, among other thirgs, liquidity and historical and projected cashwi] strategic plan (including alternative L
of capital), our financial results and conditiomntractual and legal restrictions on the paymendieidends (including under our revolvi
credit facility), general economic and competitivenditions and such other factors as our Board ioédiors may consider relevant. ~
forward-looking statements speak only as of thes adtthis Form 109 and undue reliance should not be placed on thedements. W
undertake no obligation to update or revise anywéod-looking statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abut Market Risk

There have been no significant changes to our maidiefactors that were previously disclosed im Beport on Form 16 for our fisca
year ended December 31, 20
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Iltem 4. Controls and Procedures

Under the direction of our Chairman of the Board &hief Executive Officer and our Chief Financidfi€er, we evaluated our disclosi
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a)1d&(Rule 15dt5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded). Based on t
evaluation, our Chairman of the Board and Chiefdatiee Officer and our Chief Financial Officer cdmded that our disclosure controls .
procedures were effective as of September 30, 20al change in internal control over financial repp@ occurred during the quarter en
September 30, 2014 , that materially affecteds aeasonably likely to materially affect, such intd control over financial reporting.

On May 14, 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Omgtions of the Treadway Commission (COSO) issuedtated version of |
Internal Control -Integrated Framework (2013 Framework). Originafigued in 1992 (1992 Framework), the framework hefggnization
design, implement and evaluate the effectivenesimitefnal control concepts and simplify their use application. The 1992 Framew
remains available during the transition period, shihéxtends to December 15, 2014, after which tif®SO will consider it as supersedec
the 2013 Framework. As of September 30, 20d#4 continue to utilize the 1992 Framework dutting transition to the 2013 Framework by
end of 2014.

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

On July 26, 2014, the Company received notice lafaguit filed in the United States District Couot tthe District of Connecticut, entitl
Warren Ganues and Dominic Varriale, on behalf efrikelves and all others similarly situated, v. \Watrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vinci
K. McMahon and George A. Barrigsalleging violations of federal securities lawsé®a on certain statements relating to the negotiati
WWE'’s domestic television license. The complaint sesk$ain unspecified damages. A nearly identicalslatvwas filed one month la
entitledCurtis Swanson, on behalf of himself and all ottsdnsilarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainniglnc., Vincent K. McMahon ai
George A. Barrios Both lawsuits are purported securities classoastisubject to the Private Securities LitigationfoRa Act of 199!
(“PSLRA"). On September 224, five putative plaintiffs filed motions to beggnted lead plaintiff and to consolidate the tvas&s pursuant
the PSLRA. The Company joined the motion for coidsdion made by the putative lead plaintiffs. Thenpany believes the claims
without merit and intends to vigorously defendlitsgainst them.

On October 25, 2014, the Company received notica ptirported class action lawsuit filed in the ditStates District Court for t
District of Oregon, entitledVilliam Albert Haynes Ill, on behalf of himself amdhers similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Erénment, Inc
alleging, among other things, that the Company ealsd and denied medical research and evidencesigong traumatic brain injuri
suffered by WWE's performers. The Company belighesclaims are without merit and intends to vigsty defend itself against them.

In addition to the foregoing, we are involved ivesgl other litigations and claims that we considebe in the ordinary course of our busin
By its nature, the outcome of litigation is not kmobut the Company does not currently expect itigation to have a material adverse ef
on our financial condition, results of operatiomdiguidity. We may from time to time become a e other legal proceedings.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We do not believe there have been any materialgdsato the risk factors previously disclosed in Aonual Report on Form 1R-for the
year ended December 31, 201
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Iltem 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits

10.9A* Amendment, dated October 8, 2014, to EmplegtrAgreement between the Company and Michaelidi {incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.9A to the Company’s 8-K filed Octol#r2014).

10.13* Form of Indemnification Agreement to be eatkinto between the Company and each of its ire@nd certain officers.

31.1 Certification by Vincent K. McMahon pursuaat3ection 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (fikedewith).

31.2 Certification by George A. Barrios pursuanggxtion 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (fileddwith).

32.1 Certification by Vincent K. McMahon and GeorgeBarrios pursuant to Section 906 of SarbanespAIct of 2002 (filed herewith).
101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linklea®ocument

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba@ecument

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Dowent

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Documen

* Indicates management contract or compensatiom @arrangement.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securtiieshange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly eduhis report to be signed on its behal
the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.
(Registrant)

Dated:  October 30, 2014 By:/s/ George A. Barrios
George A. Barrios
Chief Strategy and Financial Officer
(principal financial officer
and authorized signatory)

/sl Mark Kowal
Mark Kowal
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller
(principal accounting officer and authorized
signatory)
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INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Indemnification Agreement ("Agreement”) is reads of __, 2014 by and between V
Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., a Delaware corpora(the "Company"), and ("Indemhjtee
RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (tBeard") has determined that, in order to attrat
retain qualified individuals, the Company will attpt to maintain on an ongoing basis, at its soleeage, liabilit
insurance to protect persons serving the Compadyitarsubsidiaries from certain liabilities. Direcd, officers, an
other persons in service to corporations or busieeserprises are being increasingly subjectecpereive and time-
consuming litigation relating to, among other tlinmatters that traditionally would have been bhawmly against tt
Company or business enterprise itself. The By-lafnthe Company (the "Bjaws") and the Certificate of Incorporat
of the Company (the "Certificate of Incorporatiorr§quire indemnification of the officers and dim@st of the
Company. Indemnitee may also be entitled to indéoation pursuant to the General Corporation Lavihaf State ¢
Delaware (the "DGCL"). The Bilaws, the Certificate of Incorporation and the DGExkpressly provide that t
indemnification provisions set forth therein aré exclusive, and thereby contemplate that contraetg be entered in
between the Company and members of the Boardgeddfiend other persons with respect to indemnitoati

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the inccead@culty in attracting and retaining such pemsais
detrimental to the best interests of the Compard/ itmstockholders and that the Company shouldaessure sur
persons that there will be increased certaintyuohgrotection in the future;

WHEREAS, it is reasonable, prudent and necessarytife Company contractually to obligate itseli
indemnify, and to advance expenses on behalf of) persons to the fullest extent permitted by applie law so th.
they will serve or continue to serve the Compaey firom undue concern that they will not be sommoiéied; and

WHEREAS, this Agreement is a supplement to andurthérance of the Blaws and the Certificate
Incorporation and any resolutions adopted purstiaeteto, and shall not be deemed a substitute fdrgneor tc
diminish or abrogate any rights of Indemnitee thader;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised #re covenants contained herein, the Compan
Indemnitee do hereby covenant and agree as follows:

Section 1. Services to the Compammdemnitee agrees to continue to serve as a direxffccer,
and/or employee of the Company and/or, at the icpfethe Company, as a director, officer, employgent or othe
fiduciary of another corporation, partnershlp, jorenture, trust or other enterprise. Indemnlteg ataany time and fi
any reason resign from such position (subject yoaher contractual obligation or any obligatiorpimsed by operatic
of law), in which event the Company shall have mtigation under this Agreement to continue Indeemitn suc
position. This Agreement shall not be deemed an@mpent contract between the Company (or any of its




subsidiaries or any Enterprise) and Indemniteeenmutee specifically acknowledges that Indemnitee'gloymer
with the Company (or any of its subsidiaries or &merprise), if any, is at will, and the Indemait@ay be discharg
at any time for any reason, with or without cause;ept as may be otherwise provided in any wrigerploymer
contract between Indemnitee and the Company (orodnts subsidiaries or any Enterprise), other mable forma
severance policies duly adopted by the Board, ah mespect to service as a director or officethaef Company, by tt
Certificate of Incorporation, the Company's Byvs, and the DGCL. The foregoing notwithstanditigs Agreemer
shall continue in force after Indemnitee has ceaserve in any one or more of such capacitiepr@dded in Sectic
16 hereof.

Section 2. Definitions.As used in this Agreement:

(@) References to "agent" shall mean any person wioo vgas a director, officer, or employee, fiduciar
agent of the Company or a subsidiary of the Compaajding serving in any such capacity with reggecanothe
corporation, partnership, limited liability compangint venture, trust or other enterprise at tbgquest of, for tr
convenience of, or to represent the interestsefmpany or a subsidiary of the Company.

(b) A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to occur uihenearliest to occur after the date of this Agree
of any of the following events:

i.  Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person @efined below), other than one or more Currenttfod
Persons, is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (aseatkbelow), directly or indirectly, of securitie the Compan
representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of tbmigined voting power of the Company's then outstendecuritie
at any time when one or more Current Control Pexsonhe aggregate no longer are Beneficial OwaEsgcurities ¢
the Company representing fifteen percent (15%) orenmof the combined voting power of the Companther
outstanding securities;

ii.  Change in Board of Directors. During any periodwb (2) consecutive years (not including any pe
prior to the execution of this Agreement), indivadsiwho at the beginning of such period constitogeBoard, and ai
new director (other than a director designated pgraon who has entered into an agreement wittmepany to effe:
a transaction described in Sections 2(b)(i), 2ifb)r 2(b)(iv)) whose election by the Board or nioation for electio
by the Company's stockholders was approved by @ ebat least twahirds of the directors then still in office w
either were directors at the beginning of the ko whose election or nomination for election vpasviously s
approved, cease for any reason to constitute stt demajority of the members of the Board;

ili.  Corporate Transactions. The effective date of agereor consolidation of the Company with any ¢
entity, other than a merger or consolidation whiabuld result in the voting securities of the Compautstandin
immediately prior to such merger or consolidatiomttuing to represent (either by remaining outdiiag or by bein
converted into voting securities of the survivingtisy) more than 51% of the combined voting powérithe voting
securities of the surviving entity outstanding inthagely after such merger or consolidation and thih power to ele
at least a majority of the board of directors drentgoverning body of such surviving entity;




iv.  Liquidation. The approval by the stockholders @& ompany of a complete liquidation of the Comj
or an agreement for the sale or disposition byQbmpany of all or substantially all of the Compamssets; and

v. Other Events. There occurs any other event of ar@dbhat would be required to be reported in respdt
Item 6(e) of Schedule 14A of Regulation 14A (oresponse to any similar item on any similar scheduléorm’
promulgated under the Exchange Act (as definedvWhelvhether or not the Company is then subjecutthgeportin
requirement, but excluding any event immediatetgraivhich one or more Current Control Persons énatgregate a
Beneficial Owners of securities of the Company espnting fifteen percent (15%) or more of the combivoting
power of the Company’s then outstanding securities.

For purposes of this Section 2(b), the followingrte shall have the following meanings:

(A) "Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaningeagi to such term in Rule 1&l-under th
Exchange Act; provided, however, that Beneficialr@wshall exclude any Person otherwise becorr
Beneficial Owner by reason of the stockholdersh&f Company approving a merger of the Com
with another entity.

(B) “Current Control Persons” shall mean alldesk from time to time of the ComparyClas
B Common Stock.

(C) "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934, as amended from tirr
time.

(D) "Person" shall have the meaning as set fortSBections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exche
Act; provided, however, that Person shall excludleahe Company, (i) any trustee or other fiduc
holding securities under an employee benefit plathe Company, and (iii) any corporation owr
directly or indirectly, by the stockholders of tG®@mpany in substantially the same proportions as
ownership of stock of the Company.

For purposes of this Section 2(b), when calculathmy percentage of combined voting power of the amy’s thel
outstanding securities Beneficially Owned by suelspn(s), all Class A and Class B common stock bglthem sha
be taken into account.

(c) "Corporate Status" describes the status of a pesdanis or was a director, trustee, partner, marg
member, officer, employee, fiduciary or agent a¢d thompany or of any other corporation, limited i company
partnership or joint venture, trust or other entiegowhich such person is or was serving at theasgof the Company.

(d) "Disinterested Director" shall mean a director loé tCompany who is not and was not a party t
Proceeding in respect of which indemnificationasght by Indemnitee.

(e) "Enterprise" shall mean the Company and any otbgparation, limited liability company, partnerst
joint venture, trust or other enterprise of whiokdémnitee is or we




serving at the request of the Company as a direotbcer, trustee, partner, managing member, eggapfiduciary c
agent.

(H  "Expenses" shall include all reasonable attornéess, retainers, court costs, transcript costss fd
experts and other professionals, accounting andegst fees, travel expenses, duplicating coststingiand bindin
costs, telephone charges, postage, delivery seiegse fax transmission charges, secretarial ssyveny federal, sta
local or foreign taxes imposed on Indemnitee assallt of the actual or deemed receipt of any paysnender thi
Agreement, ERISA excise taxes and penalties, ahdthér disbursements, obligations or expenseshef type
customarily incurred in connection with, or as aute of, prosecuting, defending, preparing to pcose or defen
investigating, being or preparing to be a depomenwitness in, or otherwise participating in, a ¢&eding. Expens
also shall include (i) Expenses incurred in conoectvith any appeal resulting from any Proceedingluding withou
limitation the premium, security for, and other tso®lating to any cost bond, supersedeas borather appeal bond
its equivalent, (ii) Expenses incurred in connattath recovery under any directors’ and officeliability insuranci
policies maintained by the Company, regardless léther the Indemnitee is ultimately determined ¢oehtitled t
such indemnification, advancement or Expenses suramce recovery, as the case may be, and (iiipdoposes
Section 14(d) only, Expenses incurred by or on hetidndemnitee in connection with the interpréat enforcemel
or defense of Indemnitee's rights under this Ageagnby litigation or otherwise. The parties agies for the purpos
of any advancement of Expenses for which Indemrhee made written demand to the Company in accoedaiitl
this Agreement, all Expenses included in such deimhat are certified by affidavit of Indemnitsecounsel as bei
reasonable shall be presumed conclusively to bsonedle. Expenses, however, shall not include atagoaid ir
settlement by Indemnitee or the amount of judgmentses against Indemnitee.

(@) "Independent Counsel" shall mean a law firm, oreaber of a law firm, that is experienced in mattd
corporation law and neither presently is, nor ie ffast five years has been, retained to repre@ethie Company ¢
Indemnitee in any matter material to either sucttypéother than with respect to matters concerriimg Indemnite
under this Agreement, or of other indemnitees uisttarlar indemnification agreements), or (ii) anyer party to th
Proceeding giving rise to a claim for indemnificatinereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, tlentdndependel
Counsel" shall not include any person who, under dapplicable standards of professional conduct firenailing
would have a conflict of interest in representinther the Company or Indemnitee in an action toewheine
Indemnitee's rights under this Agreement. The Campagrees to pay the reasonable fees and expest&
Independent Counsel referred to above and to faliemnify such counsel against any and all Expensiasns
liabilities and damages arising out of or relatioghis Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto

(h) A "Potential Change in Control Event" will be dealrie have occurred if:

I. the Company enters into an agreement or arrangethanhtwould constitute a Change in Contrc
consummated;

ii. any person (including the Company) publicly ann@snan intention to take or to consider taking ac
that would constitute a Change in Control if conmated; or




ili. the Board of Directors adopts a resolution to tfiece that, for purposes of this Agreement, a Plid¢
Change in Control Event has occurred.

() The term "Proceeding"” shall include any threatepedding or completed action, suit, claim, courissnc,
cross claim, arbitration, mediation, alternate disgresolution mechanism, investigation, inquiggnanistrative hearin
or any other actual, threatened or completed pchegewhether brought in the right of the Companytherwise an
whether of a civil, criminal, administrative, regtory, legislative or investigative (formal or imfisal) nature, includin
any appeal therefrom, in which Indemnitee wasris/il be involved as a party, potential party, Aoarty witness c
otherwise by reason of the Indemnige€orporate Status or by reason of any action thkahe Indemnitee (or a failt
to take action by the Indemnitee) or of any ac{mmnfailure to act) on the Indemnitsedart while acting pursuant to
Corporate Status, in each case whether or notrgemvisuch capacity at the time any liability orpgerse is incurred f
which indemnification, reimbursement, or advanceim@&hExpenses can be provided under this Agreenlérihe
Indemnitee believes in good faith that a givenatin may lead to or culminate in the institutidnaoProceeding, th
shall be considered a Proceeding under this pahgra

() Reference to "other enterprise” shall include elygdobenefit plans; references to "fines" shalludel an
excise tax assessed with respect to any employasefibplan; references to "serving at the requéshe Company
shall include any service as a director, officenpiyee, fiduciary or agent of the Company whiclpases duties on,
involves services by, such director, officer, emnypl®, fiduciary or agent with respect to an employeeefit plan, it
participants or beneficiaries; and a person whedant good faith and in a manner he or she rea$pbabeved to be i
the best interests of the participants and berefes of an employee benefit plan shall be deemdthve acted in
manner "not opposed to the best interests of tepaay"” as referred to in this Agreement.

Section 3. Indemnity in ThirdParty Proceedingslhe Company shall indemnify Indemnitee in accoré
with the provisions of this Section 3 if Indemnitese or is threatened to be made, a party to oaréigpant in an
Proceeding, other than a Proceeding by or in titg of the Company to procure a judgment in itofaPursuant to th
Section 3, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to thbeét extent permitted by applicable law againstExpenses
judgments, liabilities, fines, penalties and ameupaid in settlement (including all interest, aseents and oth
charges paid or payable in connection with or speet of such Expenses, judgments, liabilitiegdjrpenalties ai
amounts paid in settlement) actually and reasonablyrred by Indemnitee or on the Indemnigebéhalf in connectic
with such Proceeding or any claim, issue or maltierein. The parties hereto intend that this Agre@nshall provide f
the fullest extent permitted by law for indemnitioa in excess of that expressly permitted by statmcluding, withot
limitation, any indemnification provided by the @kcate of Incorporation, the Blaws, vote of its stockholders
disinterested directors or applicable law.

Section 4. Indemnity in Proceedings by or in the Right of tBempany.The Company shall indemn
Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of Bection 4 if Indemnitee is, or is threateneddartade, a party to
a participant in any Proceeding by or in the righthe Company to procure a judgment in its farursuant to th
Section 4, Indemnitee shall be indemnified to thke$t extent permitted by applicable law againstExpenses
judgments, liabilities, fines, penalties and ameydid in settlement (including all interest, assgnts an




other charges paid or payable in connection witinaespect of such Expenses, judgments, lialslitimes, penalti¢
and amounts paid in settlement) actually and resdgrincurred by or on behalf of the Indemniteecamnection wit
such Proceeding or any claim, issue or matter itnere

Section 5. Indemnification for Expenses of a Party Who is Whok Partly SuccessfuNotwithstanding an
other provisions of this Agreement, to the fullestent permitted by applicable law and to the extieat Indemnitee
a party to (or a participant in) and is successflthe merits or otherwise, in any Proceedingqhatafense of any claii
issue or matter therein, in whole or in part, tr@mpany shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Exgesn judgment
liabilities, fines, penalties and amounts paidettlement (including all interest, assessmentsahdr charges paid
payable in connection with or in respect of suclpéhses, judgments, liabilities, fines, penaltied amounts paid
settlement) actually and reasonably incurred bgrobehalf of the Indemnitee in connection therewlittndemnitee i
not wholly successful in such Proceeding but ixessful, on the merits or otherwise, as to onearerbut less than
claims, issues or matters in such Proceeding, tmapany shall indemnify Indemnitee against all Exggsnjudgment
liabilities, fines, penalties and amounts paidettlsment (including all interest, assessmentsathdr charges paid
payable in connection with or in respect of suclpéhses, judgments, liabilities, fines, penaltied amounts paid
settlement) actually and reasonably incurred byprobehalf of the Indemnitee in connection with elated to eac
successfully resolved claim, issue or matter tofthiest extent permitted by law. For purposes lag tSection ar
without limitation, the termination of any claingsue or matter in such a Proceeding by dismiss#i, av withou
prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successfultr@stb such claim, issue or matter.

Section 6. Indemnification For Expenses of a Witnegdotwithstanding any other provision of t
Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by aggilie law and to the extent that Indemnitee isydgson of hi
Corporate Status, a witness or otherwise askedricgpate in any aspect of a Proceeding to whickeimnitee is not
party, the Indemnitee shall be indemnified agaatisExpenses actually and reasonably incurred bynobehalf of th
Indemnitee in connection therewith.

Section 7. Partial Indemnification.If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision ofsttAgreement t
indemnification by the Company for some or a portad Expenses, but not, however, for the total amdlereof, th
Company shall nevertheless indemnify Indemniteearerportion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitle

Section 8. Additional Indemnification.

(@) Notwithstanding any limitation in Sections 3, 4, mrthe Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to
fullest extent permitted by applicable law if Indeitee is a party to or threatened to be made & parbr a participal
in any Proceeding (including a Proceeding by aharight of the Company to procure a judgmentsifavor) again:
all Expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paseétiement (including all interest, assessmentsoéimel charges pe
or payable in connection with or in respect of sisipenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid flerseint) actuall
and reasonably incurred by or on behalf of Indeeanih connection with the Proceeding.

(b)  For purposes of this Agreement, the meaning ofptirase "to the fullest extent permitted by applie
law" shall include, but not be limited to:




iv. to the fullest extent permitted by the provisiontieé DGCL that authorizes or contemplates addit
indemnification by agreement, or the correspongirayision of any amendment to or replacement ofazCL, and

v. to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by amendments to or replacements of the DGCL ad
after the date of this Agreement that increaseeitent to which a corporation may indemnify itsiaédfs and directors.

Section 9. Exclusions.Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreemehe Company shall not
obligated under this Agreement to make any indeigatibn payment in connection with any claim madmias
Indemnitee:

(@) for which payment has actually been made to or emalf of Indemnitee under any insurance po
except with respect to any excess beyond the anpaidhtunder any insurance policy or other indempirtyision; or

(b) for (i) an accounting of profits made from the phase and sale (or sale and purchase) by Indenuf
securities of the Company within the meaning oftiacl6(b) of the Exchange Act (as defined in Setc(b) hereo
or similar provisions of state statutory law or ecoon law, or (i) any reimbursement of the Compamythe Indemnite
of any bonus or other incentive-based or eghéged compensation or of any profits realized leyltidemnitee froi
the sale of securities of the Company, as requirectach case under the Exchange Act (including sugt
reimbursements that arise from an accounting st of the Company pursuant to Section 304 ofStwdanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarban&xley Act"), or the payment to the Company of pio#rising from the purchase
sale by Indemnitee of securities in violation ot&m 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act); or

(c) except as provided in Section 14(d) of this Agreetnie connection with any Proceeding (or any [od
any Proceeding) initiated by Indemnitee, includiagy Proceeding (or anpart of any Proceeding) initiated
Indemnitee against the Company or its director§icars, employees or other indemnitees, unlessh@ Boart
authorizes the Proceeding (or any part of any Fdiog), (i) such payment arises in connection vaitty mandatol
counterclaim or crosskaim or affirmative defense brought or raised hhgdmnitee in any Proceeding (or any part of
Proceeding), (iii) the Company provides the inddioation, in its sole discretion, pursuant to thevers vested in tl
Company under applicable law, (iv) otherwise regghiunder Section 145 of the DGCL or (iv) such Peodsg i
brought to establish or enforce Indemnitee's rigimntder this Agreement, or any other statute or lamotherwise ¢
required under applicable law.

Section 10. Advances of Expenses.

(@) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreementhe contrary (other than Section 14(d)), the Comg
shall advance, to the extent not prohibited by @wexcluded from the Company's indemnification gétions b
Section 9, the Expenses incurred by or on behalhdémnitee in connection with any Proceeding (or part of an
Proceeding), and such advancement shall be madenwihirty (30) days after the receipt by the Compaf ¢
statement or statements requesting such advanoestime to time (which shall include invoices reea by th
Indemnitee in connection with such Expenses butthen case of invoices in connection with legal &y, an
references to legal work performed or to expendgunade that would cause




Indemnitee to waive any privilege accorded by ayafiie law shall not be so included), whether piraoor after fing
disposition of any Proceeding. Advances shall beeaared and interest free. Advances shall be m#tlew regard t
Indemnitee's ability to repay the Expenses andowitlregard to Indemnitee's ultimate entitlemenintiemnificatior
under the other provisions of this Agreement. Inoadance with Section 14(d), advances shall inclaa and a
reasonable Expenses incurred pursuing an actienfiorce this right of advancement, including Exgsnsicurre
preparing and forwarding statements to the Comparsgpport the advances claimed. The Indemnitek ghalify for
advances upon the execution and delivery to the gaom of this Agreement, which shall constitute amlartaking
providing that the Indemnitee undertakes to regey dmounts advanced (without interest) to the éxteast it ic
ultimately determined that Indemnitee is not eeditlto be indemnified by the Company under this Agrent
applicable law, the BYyaws, the Certificate of Incorporation, or othemvidNo other form of undertaking shall
required other than the execution of this Agreem&his Section 10 shall not apply to any claim magidndemnite
for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to Secon

(b) If a claim under this Agreement is not paid, orselito be paid, by the Company within 30 days ofipE
of written notice, the right to indemnification psovided by this Agreement will be enforceable bg tndemnitee |
any court of competent jurisdiction, and all readala costs and expenses incurred by the Indemnita@nection wit
such enforcement will be paid promptly by the Conmypi advance of the final disposition by such ¢airthe writte
request of the Indemnitee to the fullest extenhypiged by applicable law; provided that Indemnive# reimburse th
Company for all such costs and expenses paid bZtmepany or any of its subsidiaries if and onlyhe extent that
court of competent jurisdiction ultimately determsnthat the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indéath by the
Company for such costs and expenses under thesprosiof applicable law, the Bylaws, Certificateloéorporatior
this Agreement, or otherwise.

(c) The Indemnitee will promptly repay to the Company amounts paid to the Indemnitee pursuant to

rights of indemnification or under any insurancdéi@g to the extent those payments are duplicabivpayments ma
to the Indemnitee under this Agreement.

Section 11. Procedure for Notification and Defense of Claim.

(@) Indemnitee shall notify the Company in writing efyamatter with respect to which Indemnitee inteta
seek indemnification or advancement of Expensesumeler as soon as reasonably practicable follotiaegeceipt b
Indemnitee of written notice thereof or Indemnitebecoming aware thereof. The written notificatiorthe Compar
shall include a description of the nature of thedeeding and the facts underlying the Proceedmgach case to t
extent known to Indemnitee. To obtain indemnificatunder this Agreement, Indemnitee shall submibtéoCompany
written request, including therein or therewith lsudocumentation and information as is reasonabbyilave tc
Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary to determinether and to what extent Indemnitee is entitte
indemnification following the final disposition gluch Proceeding. The failure by Indemnitee to pdtie Compan
hereunder will not relieve the Company from anpility which it may have to Indemnitee hereundewotrerwise, an
any delay in so notifying the Company shall notstidate a waiver by Indemnitee of any rights unithés Agreemen
except to the extent (solely with respect to tliteemnity hereunder) that such




failure or delay materially prejudices the Compahge Secretary of the Company shall, promptly upameipt of suc
a request for indemnification, advise the Boardiiting that Indemnitee has requested indemniforati

(b) Selection of Counsel; Defense of Proceedings. énettent the Company shall be obligated hereunt
pay the Expenses of any Proceeding, the Comparly shantitled to assume the defense of such Pdicgewith
counsel approved by Indemnitee, which approvall stedlbe unreasonably withheld, upon the deliverindemnitee ¢
written notice of its election so to do. To theldst extent permitted by Delaware law, the Compsuagsumption of tl
defense of a Proceeding pursuant to this Sectid) 14ill constitute an irrevocable acknowledgmempttbe Compan
that any Expenses incurred by or for the accoultdémnitee incurred in connection therewith ademnifiable by th
Company under this Agreement. After delivery oftsaotice, approval of such counsel by Indemniteethe retentio
of such counsel by the Company, the Company willbeliable to Indemnitee under this Agreementdnoy fees ¢
counsel subsequently incurred by Indemnitee wispeet to the same Proceeding; provided that:

a. Indemnitee shall have the right to employ Indiégee’s counsel in any such Proceedint
Indemnitee’s expense; and

b. if:

(A) the employment of counsel by Indemnitee hasnbpeeviously authorized by t
Company, or

(B) Indemnitee shall have reasonably concludedttieate is an actual or potential cont
of interest between the Company and Indemnitedeénconduct of any such defense or su
conflict is likely to arise, or

(C) the named parties in any such Proceeding @metuany impleaded parties) inclt
both (1) the Company or any subsidiary of the Camgpand (2) the Indemnitee, and
Indemnitee concludes that there may be one or hegad defenses or counterclaims availab
Indemnitee that are different from or in additiom those available to the Company or
subsidiary of the Company, or

(D) any such representation by such counsel woelgptecluded under the applice
standards of professional conduct then prevaibing,

(E) the Company shall not continue to retain sumimsel to defend such Proceeding,
then the fees and expenses of Indemnitee coursébghat the expense of the Company

The Company shall not be entitled, without the eonmnf the Indemnitee, to assume the defense otckairy
brought by the Company.

(c) Settlement of Proceedings. The Company shall nidhowt the prior written consent of the Indemni
effect any settlement of any Proceeding, in wholm @art, which the




Indemnitee is or could have been a party unlesk sattlement includes a complete and unconditioslabse of tF
Indemnitee from all liability on all claims thateathe subject matter of such Proceeding and doesmpmse an
Expense on the Indemnitee. Neither the Companytimerindemnitee shall unreasonably withhold congenany
proposed settlement; provided that the Indemnitag withhold consent to any settlement that inclualesdmission «
fault of the Indemnitee or does not provide a catgphnd unconditional release of the Indemnitee. Tompany she
not be liable to the Indemnitee under this Agreemfi@nany amounts paid in settlement of any Promepdffected b
Indemnitee without the Comparsy’prior written consent. To the fullest extent pited by Delaware law, tl
Companys assumption of the defense of a Proceeding purdaathis Section 11(b) will constitute an irrevbts
acknowledgment by the Company that any Expensesraat by or for the account of Indemnitee incuriredonnectio
therewith are indemnifiable by the Company under Agreement.

Section 12. Procedure Upon Application for Indemnification.

(@) Upon written request by an Indemnitee for indencatiion pursuant to Section 11(a):

i. if a Change in Control or Potential Change in CalnEvent shall have occurred, a determination
respect to Indemnitee's entitlement thereto shalnlade by Independent Counsel in a written opiteothe Board,
copy of which shall be delivered to Indemnitee;

ii. if the Indemnitee is an outside director and nor@eain Control or Potential Change in Control Evaml
have occurred, the Indemnitee shall be presumée tentitled to indemnification and advancement xjjedases und
this Agreement on submission of the written request

iii.  if the Indemnitee is not an outside director andom@ange in Control or Potential Change in Contnggrk
shall have occurred a determination, if requiredapplicable law, with respect to Indemnitee's &tient thereto shi
be made (A) by a majority vote of the DisinteresBackctors, even though less than a quorum of tbar® (B) by
committee of Disinterested Directors designatea loyajority vote of the Disinterested Directors, retf@ough less th:
a quorum of the Board, (C) if there are no suchrbesested Directors or, if such Disinterested Elioes so direct, k
Independent Counsel in a written opinion to the l@pa copy of which shall be delivered to Indemmite (D) if st
directed by the Board, by the stockholders of tlmen@any; and, if it is so determined that Indemnigentitled t
indemnification, payment to Indemnitee shall be enadthin ten (10) days after such determination.

In the case of a determination to be made pursiwaSection 12(a)(i) or 12(a)(iii), Indemnitee shedloperat
with the person, persons or entity making such rdemation with respect to Indemnitee's entitlemdn
indemnification, including providing to such persopersons or entity upon reasonable advance recame
documentation or information which is not privilelger otherwise protected from disclosure and whgcheasonab
available to Indemnitee and reasonably necessasyth determination. Any costs or Expenses (inolydittorney:
fees and disbursements) incurred by or on behalh@émnitee in so cooperating with the person, gesor entit
making such determination shall be borne by the @y (irrespective of the
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determination as to Indemnitee's entitlement temudification) and the Company hereby indemnifies agrees to ho
Indemnitee harmless therefrom. The Company prompily advise Indemnitee in writing with respect &mny
determination that Indemnitee is or is not entitiedndemnification, including a description of argason or basis f
which indemnification has been denied.

(b) In the event the determination of entitlement tdeimnification is to be made by Independent Cot
pursuant to Section 12(a) hereof, the Independenin§el shall be selected as provided in this Sedigb). If nc
Change in Control or Potential Change in Contrag¢ivshall have occurred, the Independent Counsdil lsh selecte
by the Board, and the Company shall give writteticecto Indemnitee advising him of the identitytbé Independe
Counsel so selected. If a Change in Control ormisleChange in Control Event shall have occurtbd, Independe
Counsel shall be jointly selected by Indemnitee alddther indemnitees similarly situated (unlesdedmnitee she
request that such selection be made by the Boandhich event the preceding sentence shall apphy, Indemnite
shall give written notice to the Company advisih@fi the identity of the Independent Counsel sedeld. In eithe
event, Indemnitee or the Company, as the case mamday, within ten (10) days after such writtenicebf selectio
shall have been given, deliver to the Company ofnttemnitee, as the case may be, a written objedtosucl
selection;_provided however, that such objection may be asserted only on thengl that the Independent Counse
selected does not meet the requirements of "IndkggrCounsel” as defined in Section 2 of this Agreet, and th
objection shall set forth with particularity thectaal basis of such assertion. Absent a propertiamely objection, th
person so selected shall act as Independent Coufs&lich written objection is so made and subsited, th
Independent Counsel so selected may not servedapéndent Counsel unless and until such objediovithdrawn ¢
the Delaware Court has determined that such objecs without merit. If, within twenty (20) daystef the later ¢
submission by Indemnitee of a written request falemnification pursuant to Section 11(a) hereof #m&l fina
disposition of the Proceeding, no Independent Celstsgall have been selected and not objectedtteerehe Compar
or Indemnitee may petition the Delaware Court fesalution of any objection which shall have beerdenay th
Company or Indemnitee to the other's selectionndependent Counsel and/or for the appointment dspknder
Counsel of a person selected by such court or bl sther person as such court shall designateftangerson wit
respect to whom all objections are so resolvedher gerson so appointed shall act as Independemis€bunde
Section 12(a) hereof. Upon the due commencemesmyjfudicial proceeding or arbitration pursuansextion 14(a) «
this Agreement, Independent Counsel shall be digeldaand relieved of any further responsibilitysinch capacit
(subject to the applicable standards of professiooraduct then prevailing).

Section 13. Presumptions and Effect of Certain Proceedings.

(@ In making a determination with respect to entitlaim® indemnification hereunder, the person or ques
or entity making such determination shall, to thiéekt extent not prohibited by law, presume timatelmnitee is entitle
to indemnification under this Agreement if Indenseithas submitted a request for indemnificationcecoedance wit
Section 11(a) of this Agreement, and the Compamyl,sio the fullest extent not prohibited by lavgve the burden
proof to overcome that presumption in connectiotinthe making by any person, persons or entityngfadeterminatio
contrary to that presumption, and such presumpsioall be used as a basis for a determination afleament tc
indemnification and advancement of expenses utihess
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Company overcomes such presumption by clear andromng evidence. Neither the failure of the Compéncluding
by its directors or Independent Counsel) to havelana determination prior to the commencement of actyor
pursuant to this Agreement that indemnificationpr®per in the circumstances because Indemniteentetsthe
applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual detetion by the Company (including by its directorsindepende!
Counsel) that Indemnitee has not met such appécsiaindard of conduct, shall be a defense to ttienagor create
presumption that Indemnitee has not met the agpécstandard of conduct.

(b)  Subject to Section 14(e), if the person, personsntity empowered or selected under Section 1Ais
Agreement to determine whether Indemnitee is edtitb indemnification shall not have made a deteaton withir
sixty (60) days after receipt by the Company of thquest therefor, the requisite determination mitlement tc
indemnification shall, to the fullest extent nobpibited by law, be deemed to have been made ateirinitee shall k
entitled to such indemnification, absent a profobitof such indemnification under applicable lawpyded, howeve
that such 6@ay period may be extended for a reasonable timefmexceed an additional thirty (30) days, if
person, persons or entity making the determinatith respect to entitlement to indemnification ioogl faith require
such additional time for the obtaining or evalugtof documentation and/or information relating #ter and provide:
further, that the foregoing provisions of this $&ct13(b) shall not apply (i) if the determinatioh entitlement t
indemnification is to be made by the stockholdansspant to Section 12(a)(iii) of this Agreement ah@A) within
fifteen (15) days after receipt by the Companyhef tequest for such determination the Board hasves to subm
such determination to the stockholders for theirstderation at an annual meeting thereof to be Wwéldn seventyfive
(75) days after such receipt and such determinasionade thereat, or (B) a special meeting of s$tolders is calle
within fifteen (15) days after such receipt for fh@pose of making such determination, such meesirigeld for suc
purpose within sixty (60) days after having beencatled and such determination is made thereafjioif the
determination of entitlement to indemnificatiortasbe made by Independent Counsel pursuant todBet#(a)(i) or 12
(a)(iii) of this Agreement.

(c) The termination of any Proceeding or of any clasaue or matter therein, by judgment, order, setie
or conviction, or upon a plea of notmntendereor its equivalent, shall not of itself adverselyfeat the right c
Indemnitee to indemnification or create a presuampthat Indemnitee did not meet the applicabledstesh or condu
or have a particular belief.

(d) The Indemnitee shall be presumed to have at a#idiacted in good faith and in a manner he reasg
believed to be in or not opposed to the best isteref the Company and the Company shall, to thestuextent nc
prohibited by law, have the burden of proof to @eene that presumption in connection with the makipgny persol
persons or entity of any determination contraryhit presumption, and such presumption shall bd ase basis for
determination of entitlement to indemnification aadvancement of expenses unless the Company ovesceut
presumption by clear and convincing evidence. kropgses of any determination of good faith, Indeeeishall b
deemed to have acted in good faith if Indemnitaet®n is based on the records or books of acooiutite Enterpris:
including financial statements, or on informatiapplied to Indemnitee by the directors or officefghe Enterprise
the course of their duties, or on the advice oallegpunsel for the Enterprise or on informationrecords given (
reports made to the Enterprise by an independetti@@ public accountant or by an appraiser oreotbxpert selectt
with the reasonable care by the Enterprise. Theigioms of this Section 13(d) shall not
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be deemed to be exclusive or to limit in any wag t¢ither circumstances in which the Indemnitee nayldemed |
have met the applicable standard of conduct s#t forthis Agreement.

(e) The knowledge and/or actions, or failure to aciamy director, officer, trustee, partner, managmgmber
fiduciary, agent or employee of the Enterprise Ishail be imputed to Indemnitee for purposes of mhet@ng the righ
to indemnification under this Agreement.

Section 14. Remedies of Indemnitee.

(&) Subject to Section 14(e), in the event that (itednination is made pursuant to Section 12(aj(i)2{a)
(i) of this Agreement that Indemnitee is not detl to indemnification under this Agreement, (fip require
determination of entitlement to indemnification kheave been made pursuant to Section 12(a)(i)29a){iii) of this
Agreement within ninety (90) days after receiptthy Company of the request for indemnification(iioy the Compan
or any other person or entity takes or threatertake any action to declare this Agreement voidireenforceable,
institutes any litigation or other action or prodeg designed to deny, or to recover from, Indeewithe benefi
provided or intended to be provided to the Indeeenithereunder, Indemnitee shall be entitled to gundawhtion by
court of his entitlement to such indemnificationamtlvancement of Expenses. Alternatively, Indemniatdis optior
may seek an award in arbitration to be conducted bingle arbitrator pursuant to the JAMS Employtmnitration
Rules. Indemnitee shall commence such proceedieijrggan adjudication or an award in arbitratiothim 180 day
following the date on which Indemnitee first has tight to commence such proceeding pursuant $oSbction 14(a
provided, however, that the foregoing clause shall not apply in eespf a proceeding brought by Indemnite
enforce his rights under Section 5 of this Agreetm&he Company shall not oppose Indemnitee’s tigleek any su
adjudication or award in arbitration.

(b) In the event that a determination shall have beadenpursuant to Section 12(a)(i) or 12(a)(iii) lof
Agreement that Indemnitee is not entitled to inddicetion, any judicial proceeding or arbitratioaramenced pursue
to this Section 14 shall be conducted in all respas a d@ovotrial, or arbitration, on the merits and Indemnigial
not be prejudiced by reason of that adverse detation. In any judicial proceeding or arbitraticmnumenced pursue
to this Section 14 the Company shall have the bumfeproving Indemnitee is not entitled to indenwvation o
advancement of Expenses, as the case may be Ibyanaonvincing evidence.

(c) If a determination shall have been made pursua®etdion 12(a)(i) or 12(a)(iii) of this Agreemeht
Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification, the Canp shall be bound by such determination in anjcjadproceedin
or arbitration commenced pursuant to this Sectirabsent a prohibition of such indemnification eindpplicable law

(d) The Company shall, to the fullest extent not prabdby law, be precluded from asserting in anygiad
proceeding or arbitration commenced pursuant ts tection 14 that the procedures and presumptionthis
Agreement are not valid, binding and enforceabb sirall stipulate in any such court or before amghsarbitrator th:
the Company is bound by all the provisions of thiseement. It is the intent of the Company thatth fullest exter
permitted by law, the Indemnitee not be requirethtoir legal fees or other Expenses associatedtivhnterpretatiol
enforcement or defense of Indemnitee's rights umlgier Agreement by litigation or otherwise becatise cost an
expense thereof would substantially detract froenlténefits
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intended to be extended to the Indemnitee hereurdder Company shall, to the fullest extent perrditty law
indemnify Indemnitee against any and all Expensel d requested by Indemnitee, shall (within t&@)(days afte
receipt by the Company of a written request thejeddvance, to the extent not prohibited by lawghsExpenses
Indemnitee, which are incurred by or on behalfrafdmnitee in connection with any action broughtrgemnitee fc
indemnification or advancement of Expenses from @menpany under this Agreement or under any direttan
officers' liability insurance policies maintaineg the Company unless it is ultimately determinedttbach of th
material assertions made by the Indemnitee in thededing was not made in good faith or was friuslo

(e) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to thenttary, no determination as to entitlemen
Indemnitee to indemnification under this Agreemsimall be required to be made prior to the finapdsstion of thi
Proceeding.

Section 15. Non-exclusivity; Survival of Rights:; Insurance; Subrtiga.

(@) The rights of indemnification and to receive adwanent of Expenses as provided by this Agreeme
shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rightshich Indemnitee may at any time be entitled uraggplicable law
the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bgws, any agreement, a vote of stockholders orsalugon of directors, ¢
otherwise and (ii) shall be interpreted indepengleaf, and without reference to, any other suchhtsgto whicl
Indemnitee may at any time be entitled. No amendnadteration or repeal of this Agreement or of @ngvision herec
shall limit or restrict any right of Indemnitee werdthis Agreement in respect of any action takewritted by suc
Indemnitee in his Corporate Status prior to sucleradment, alteration or repeal. To the extent thahange i
Delaware law, whether by statute or judicial demisipermits greater indemnification or advancenoériixpenses the
would be afforded currently under the Byws, the Certificate of Incorporation and this égment, it is the intent of t
parties hereto that Indemnitee shall enjoy by Agseement the greater benefits so afforded by shelmge. No right «
remedy herein conferred is intended to be exclusivany other right or remedy, and every othertrigid remedy sh:
be cumulative and in addition to every other rightl remedy given hereunder or now or hereaftetiegigt law or ii
equity or otherwise. The assertion or employmerdrof right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, siatllprevent th
concurrent assertion or employment of any othértrig remedy.

(b) To the extent that the Company maintains an ing@golicy or policies providing liability insurander
directors, officers or employees of the Enterpriseemnitee shall be named as an insured in a mahatprovide
Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or pedien accordance with its or their terms to thexiimam extent of th
coverage available for any such director, officeemployee under such policy or policies. If, a thme of the recei
of a notice of a claim pursuant to the terms herdnaf Company has director and officer liabilitgumance in effect, tl
Company shall give prompt notice of such claim bthe commencement of a Proceeding, as the casebmatyp th
insurers in accordance with the procedures seh fiortthe respective policies. The Company shalighier take a
necessary or desirable action to cause such isstogray, on behalf of the Indemnitee, all amoueatgable as a res
of such Proceeding in accordance with the ternsaiof policies.

(c) In the event the Company pays or causes to bekpgidnses, judgments, liabilities, fines, penaltiee
amounts paid in settlement (including all interassessments and
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other charges paid or payable in connection witinaespect of such Expenses, judgments, lialslitimes, penalti¢
and amounts paid in settlement) under this Agreg¢niie@ Company shall be subrogated (except asgedvin Sectio
15(e)) to the extent of such payment to all ofrilgats of recovery of Indemnitee against third jgatwho shall exect
all papers required and take all action necessaeture such rights, including execution of sucbudhents as a
necessary to enable the Company to bring suitfarem such rights.

(d) The Company shall not be liable under this Agrednitenmake any payment of amounts other
indemnifiable (or for which advancement is provideeteunder) hereunder if and to the extent thaermdtee he
otherwise actually received such payment undeir@wrance policy, contract, agreement or otherwise.

(e) The Company's obligation to indemnify or advancednses hereunder to Indemnitee who is or
serving at the request of the Company as a directficer, trustee, partner, managing member, fiay; employee ¢
agent of any other corporation, limited liabilitgrapany, partnership, joint venture, trust, empldyeeefit plan or oth:
enterprise shall be reduced by any amount Indemrites actually received as indemnification or adearent c
Expenses from such corporation, limited liabiligngpany, partnership, joint venture, trust or or@erprise.

Section 16. Duration of AgreemenfThe indemnification and advancement of expensdgsigrovided by ¢
granted pursuant to this Agreement shall contirudhe Indemnitee even though he or she may teased to ser
in a Corporate Status. The indemnification and adement of expenses rights provided by or grantedyant to thi
Agreement shall be binding upon and be enforcelaplthe parties hereto and their respective successul assig!
(including any direct or indirect successor by pase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to aludystantially all ¢
the business or assets of the Company), shallmanis to an Indemnitee who has ceased to seav€amporate Stat
and shall inure to the benefit of Indemnitee argddniher spouse, assigns, heirs, devisees, exe@rdradministrato
and other legal representatives. The Company stgllire and shall cause any successor (whetheat direndirect br
purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) ltorasubstantially all of the business or assetthhefCompany to, |
written agreement, expressly assume and agreerforpethis Agreement in the same manner and tostilee extel
that the Company would be required to perform isnoh succession had taken place.

Section 17. Severability.If any provision or provisions of this Agreemengbtbe held to be invalid, illegal
unenforceable for any reason whatsoever: (a) thditya legality and enforceability of the remaigirmprovisions of thi
Agreement (including without limitation, each portiof any Section of this Agreement containing angh provisio
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, tigenot itself invalid, illegal or unenforceable)athnot in any way t
affected or impaired thereby and shall remain exdable to the fullest extent permitted by law; gbth provision ¢
provisions shall be deemed reformed to the extenessary to conform to applicable law and to ghes rhaximur
effect to the intent of the parties hereto; and t¢c)the fullest extent possible, the provisionstlus Agreemer
(including, without limitation, each portion of ar8ection of this Agreement containing any such igion held to b
invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not Itsevalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be ctgd so as to give effe
to the intent manifested thereby.

Section 18. Savings.If this Agreement or any portion of it is invaligat on any ground by any court
competent jurisdiction, then the Company will nelreless indemnify the
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Indemnitee as to judgments, liabilities, fines, gdéas and amounts paid in settlement (including iaterest
assessments and other charges paid or payablenneaaon with or in respect of such judgments,ilids, fines
penalties and amounts paid in settlement) withaeisfp any Proceeding to the full extent permitbgdany applicabl
portion of this Agreement that is not invalidatedpy any applicable law.

Section 19. Enforcement.

(@ The Company expressly confirms and agrees thaastdntered into this Agreement and assume
obligations imposed on it hereby in order to indlremnitee to serve or to continue to serve irogpGrate Status, a
the Company acknowledges that Indemnitee is relypwn this Agreement in serving in a CorporateuStat

(b) This Agreement is a supplement to and in furthexasfdhe Certificate of Incorporation, the Byws, an
directors and officers insurance maintained byGlenpany and applicable law, and shall not be deesngdbstitut
therefor, nor to diminish or abrogate any rightsnafemnitee thereunder.

(c) Each party acknowledges that it has been giverpanortunity to be represented by counsel in conae
with this Agreement. Any rule of law, including, toot limited to, Section 1654 of the CaliforniavCiCode, or an
legal decision that would require interpretationamfy claimed ambiguities in this Agreement agathst party the
drafted it, has no application and is expresslyweahi

Section 20. Modification and WaiverNo supplement, modification or amendment of thisegnent shall &
binding unless executed in writing by the partieseto. No waiver of any of the provisions of thigréement shall |
deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any othevigions of this Agreement nor shall any waiver staote
continuing waiver. This Agreement shall not be teated without the Indemnitee's prior written cartse

Section 21. Notice by Indemniteelndemnitee agrees promptly to notify the Companwiiting upon bein
served with any summons, citation, subpoena, cantpladictment, information or other document teglg to an
Proceeding or matter which Indemnitee reasonablieues to be subject to indemnification or advaneemo
Expenses covered hereunder. The failure of Indemnd so notify the Company shall not relieve tloenany of an
obligation which it may have to the Indemnitee urities Agreement or otherwise.

Section 22. Notices.All notices, requests, demands and other commuaiaunder this Agreement shall
in writing and shall be deemed to have been durgmif (a) delivered by hand and receipted for iy party to whot
said notice or other communication shall have baieected, (b) mailed by certified or registered Invath postag
prepaid, on the third business day after the datevluch it is so mailed, (c) mailed by reputablesimight courier ar
receipted for by the party to whom said notice thieo communication shall have been directed osédf by facsimil
transmission, with receipt of oral confirmationttsach transmission has been received:

(@) If to Indemnitee, at the address indicated on ifpeasure page of this Agreement, or such otheresida
Indemnitee shall provide to the Company.
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(b) If to the Company to

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.
1241 East Main Street

Stamford, CT 06902

Attn: General Counsel

or to any other address as may have been furntsnedemnitee by the Company.

Section 23. Contribution. To the fullest extent permissible under applicalale, if the indemnificatio
provided for in this Agreement is unavailable ta@émnitee for any reason whatsoever, the Companyigin of
indemnifying Indemnitee, shall contribute to thecamt incurred by or on behalf of Indemnitee, whefioe judgments
fines, penalties, excise taxes, amounts paid betpaid in settlement and/or for Expenses, in cotiore with any clair
relating to an indemnifiable event under this Agneat, in such proportion as is deemed fair andorestse in light ¢
all of the circumstances of such Proceeding.

Section 24. Applicable Law and Consent to Jurisdictidrhis Agreement and the legal relations amon
parties shall be governed by, and construed armt@sd in accordance with, the laws of the StatBelaware, withot
regard to its conflict of laws rules. Except witkspect to any arbitration commenced by Indemnitesyant to Sectic
14(a) of this Agreement, the Company and Indemritzeby irrevocably and unconditionally (i) agreattany actio
or proceeding arising out of or in connection wthis Agreement shall be brought only in the Chaypc@ourt of th
State of Delaware (the "Delaware Court"), and nany other state or federal court in the Uniteate®t of America «
any court in any other country, (ii) consent torsitlto the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delawareutt for purposes
any action or proceeding arising out of or in caniom with this Agreement, (iif) appoint, to thetert such party is n
otherwise subject to service of process in theeStdtDelaware, irrevocably [Corporation Service Qamy, 271
Centerville Road, Suite 400, in the City of Wilmiog, County of New Castle, Delaware 19808], asagent in th
State of Delaware as such party's agent for acceptaf legal process in connection with any sudloaor proceedin
against such party with the same legal force adidityaas if served upon such party personally witthe State ¢
Delaware, (iv) waive any objection to the layingveihue of any such action or proceeding in the Wata Court, an
(v) waive, and agree not to plead or to make, dayncthat any such action or proceeding broughth Delawar
Court has been brought in an improper or inconveriggum.

Section 25. Time of the Essencelime is of the essence in the performance of eackigion of this
Agreement.

Section 26. Identical CounterpartsThis Agreement may be executed in one or more eopatts, each
which shall for all purposes be deemed to be agirai but all of which together shall constituteeocand the san
Agreement. Only one such counterpart signed bypé#rgy against whom enforceability is sought needise produce
to evidence the existence of this Agreement.

Section 27. MiscellaneousUse of the masculine pronoun shall be deemed fadecusage of the femini
pronoun where appropriate. The headings of thiségpent are inserted for
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convenience only and shall not be deemed to catesfiart of this Agreement or to affect the congtan thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused thissAgent to be signed as of the day and year fiste
written.

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC. INDEMNITEE
By:

Name: Name:

Office: Address:
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification required by Securities and Exchange At of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Semti302 of Sarbane®©xley Act of

2002
I, Vincent K. McMahon, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Foil®HQ of World Wrestling Entertainment, In
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cor@ajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, néauisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adiher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4, The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurég tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial répgy; or caused such internal control over finahoiporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and pres@ntbds report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte registrans internal contre
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrans' other certifying officer and | have disclosedsédxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @brdwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that in@dvmanagement or other employees who have a si@mifrole in the registramst’
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated:  October 30, 2014 By:/s/  Vincent K. McMahon
Vincent K. McMahon
Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.Z

Certification required by Securities and Exchange At of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Semti302 of Sarbane®©xley Act of

2002

I, George A. Barrios, certify that:

1.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Foil®HQ of World Wrestling Entertainment, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cor@ajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, néauisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adiher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurég tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh®ubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial répgy; or caused such internal control over finahoiporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and pres@ntbds report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte registrans internal contre
over financial reporting; and

The registrans' other certifying officer and | have disclosedsédxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @brdwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitasmmmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofmancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inedvmanagement or other employees who have a smmifiole in the registrarst
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 30, 2014 By: /s/ George A. Barrios
George A. Barrios
Chief Strategy and Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chairman and CEO and CFO Pursuantto
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sent906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form QOef World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (the “Coamy”) for the quarter end:
September 30, 2014 as filed with the Securitieskxachange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pafincent K. McMahon as Chairm
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Gmany and George A. Barrios as Chief Strategy andrgial Officer of the Company, e
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section0135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasiaxiey Act of 2002, that, to the besi
his or her knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeofA 1934 as amended; ¢

(2) The information contained in the report fairly mests, in all material aspects, the financial caadiand results of operations of
Company.

Dated:  October 30, 2014 By:/s/  Vincent K. McMahon
Vincent K. McMahon
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ George A. Barrios
George A. Barrios
Chief Strategy and Financial Officer




